Wound re-epithelialization: modulating keratinocyte migration in wound healing

Raja, K. Sivamani¹, Miki Shirakawa Garcia¹, R. Rivkah Isseroff^{1,2}

¹Department of Dermatology, University of California, Davis, School of Medicine, Davis, California, 95616, USA, ²Dermatology Service, Department of Veterans Affairs, Northern California Health Care System, Mather, CA 95655, USA

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Abstract

- 2. Introduction
- 3. Cell attachments: Desmosomes, Hemidesmosomes, Integrins

4. Keratins

5. Growth Factors and Cytokines

5.1. EGF family

5.2. FGF family

- 5.3. TGF-beta family
- 5.4. Other growth factors
- 5.5. Dependence on Extracellular Matrix
- 5.6. Cytokines

6. Chemokines

7. Eicosanoids

8. Oxygen

- 9. Antimicrobial Peptides
- 10. Matrix Metalloproteinases

11. Other Mediators

- 11.1. Acetylcholine and muscarinic and nicotinic receptors
- 11.2. Electric fields
- 11.3. Catecholamines and beta-adrenergic receptors
- 12. Conclusion and Perspective

13. References

1. ABSTRACT

An essential feature of a healed wound is the restoration of an intact epidermal barrier through wound epithelialization, also known as re-epithelialization. The directed migration of keratinocytes is critical to wound epithelialization and defects in this function are associated with the clinical phenotype of chronic non-healing wounds. A complex balance of signaling factors and surface proteins are expressed and regulated in a temporospatial manner that promote keratinocyte motility and survival to activate wound re-epithelialization. The majority of this review focuses on the mechanisms that regulate keratinocyte migration in the re-epithelialization process. This includes a review of cell attachments via desmosomes, hemidesmosomes, and integrins, the expression of keratins, the role of growth factors, cytokines and chemokines, eicosanoids, oxygen tension, antimicrobial peptides, and matrix metalloproteinases. Also reviewed are recently emerging novel mediators of keratinocyte motility including the role of electric fields, and signaling via the acetylcholine and beta-adrenergic receptors. These multiple regulators impact the ability of keratinocytes to migrate from the wound edge or other epidermal reservoirs to efficiently re-epithelialize a breach in the integrity of the epidermis. New discoveries will continue to uncover the elegant network of events that result in restoration of epidermal integrity and complete the wound repair process.

2. INTRODUCTION

Although cutaneous wound healing is a complex, multi-step process, involving many cell types, an essential feature of a healed wound is the restoration of an intact epidermal barrier. Indeed, a wound that is not epithelialized is not considered "healed" no matter how perfectly restored the underlying dermal structures may be. Thus, wound epithelialization, also called re-epithelialization, is a critical and defining feature of wound repair.

Re-epithelialization of the wound can be conceptually viewed as the result of three overlapping keratinocyte functions: migration, proliferation, and differentiation. The sequence of events by which keratinocytes accomplish the task of re-epithelialization is generally believed to begin with dissolution of cell-cell and cell-substratum contacts. This is followed by the polarization and initiation of migration in basal and a subset of suprabasilar keratinocytes over the provisional wound matrix. A subset of keratinocytes immediately adjacent to, but not within the wound bed, then undergo mitosis. Finally, there is multilayering of the newly formed epidermis and induction of differentiation specific gene products to restore the functionality of the epidermis (recently reviewed (1)). The most limiting is migration, since defects in this function, but not in proliferation or differentiation, are associated with the clinical phenotype of chronic non-healing wounds (2-4). Thus, the majority of

this review will focus on some of the mechanisms that regulate keratinocyte migration in the re-epithelialization process.

3. CELL ATTACHMENTS: DESMOSOMES, HEMIDESMOSOMES, INTEGRINS

In normal, uninjured epidermis, keratinocytes are attached to one another by desmosomes and to the extracellular matrix (ECM) of the underlying basement membrane by hemidesmosomes. Once the epidermis is disrupted by wounding, these interactions must be released to allow for migration of keratinocytes from the wound edge to participate in the re-epithelialization process (5). The mechanism of this process is still the subject of investigation.

There is evidence that activation and relocalization of protein kinase C alpha (PKCalpha) to the cytoplasmic desmosomal plaque is responsible for decreasing its adhesive properties (6, 7). Additionally, the transcription factor Slug, appears to be required for the desmosomal dissolution. It is upregulated in keratinocytes at the wound edge, and wound re-epithelialization is impaired in Slug knock out animals (8). A complete understanding of the temporal mechanisms regulating both desmosomal dissolution and reconstitution in the reforming epidermis will require further investigation.

Hemidesmosomes, the protein complexes that link the intracellular keratin filaments of the basal layer keratinocytes to the underlying basement membrane, must also be disassembled to allow for keratinocyte migration (9). The alpha6-beta4 integrin of the keratinocyte contributes to the adhesive property of the hemidesmosome and binds with laminin-332 (previously known as laminin-5) in the lamina densa of the basement membrane of Coordinated modulation (reviewed in (9)). hemidesmosome expression and dissolution must occur for keratinocyte migration and wound re-epithelialization. The mechanisms that control these processes are also not fully understood. One proposed mechanism involves differential affinity of integrins to laminin-332. A non-proteolytically processed form of laminin-332 is deposited beneath the leading edge of keratinocytes at the wound margin (10, 11). The alpha6-beta4 integrin has reduced affinity for this nonprocessed version of laminin-332, and this may contribute to the reduction in adhesion of basal cells to the basement membrane (12). On the other hand, another integrin that is upregulated in migrating keratinocytes, alpha3-beta1 (13), has an increased affinity for the unprocessed laminin-332 (12, 14), and thus may contribute to the motile phenotype. Another mechanism proposed to facilitate hemidesmosome disassembly may lie with "inside-out" modulation of alpha6-beta4 affinity for ligand by intracellular signaling pathways that alter the cytoplasmic portion of the integrin. Targeted deletion of the cytoplasmic signaling domain of the beta4 partner results in keratinocytes that are unable to migrate and proliferate (15). Serine phosphorylation of the cytoplasmic domain of the beta4 integrin likely occurs through the action of PKCalpha, which interferes with the binding of a stabilizing protein, plectin, (16, 17) and

suggests that this results in the relocalization of alpha6beta4 from the hemidesmosome to the lamellipodia of the keratinocyte's leading edge(18). In this scenario, macrophage stimulating protein (MSP) and EGF, both found in the wound environment, can modulate the PKCalpha-dependent phosphorylation of the beta4 subunit to increase disassembly of hemidesmosomes and increase keratinocyte motility(18). Once relocalized to the lamellipodia, both the alpha3-beta1 and alpha6-beta4 integrins are thought to be important in maintaining the keratinocyte's directional migratory trajectory, mediated in part by their intracellular association with Rac1 (19-21).

In addition to the change in distribution of integrins in the migration cells, keratinocytes actively migrating in the wound also demonstrate phenotypic shift in the repertoire of expressed integrins (22). Migrating cells express alpha5-beta1, alphaV-beta6 (receptors for fibronectin) (23) and alphaV-beta5 (receptor for vitronectin) (24, 25) as well as the aforementioned alpha3beta1 (which binds multiple ECM proteins, including the unprocessed laminin-332). The integrin that binds the ECM protein tenacsin, alpha9-beta1, is also upregulated in migrating epithelium (26, 27). Beta1-containing integrins are required for wound re-epithelialization, as its absence in genetically engineered animals results in severe impairment of this function (28). Surprisingly, migrating keratinocytes do not express the alphaV-beta3 integrin specific for binding fibrinogen, a major component of the provisional wound matrix (29). Complicating our understanding of the roles of individual integrins in wound repair is the recently noted phenomenon of "transdominant" inhibition, wherein activation of one integrin can negatively control the function of another (reviewed in (1)). Multiple associated proteins and regulatory cascades also modulate integrin binding in migrating keratinocytes, as do the changes in the composition of the underlying ECM.

4. KERATINS

Keratinocytes of the wounded epidermis express a different array of keratins than do those residing in intact epidermis. The basal layer of the intact epidermis is characterized by the expression of the keratin pair of K5 and K14, and suprabasilar layers by the expression of K1 and K10 (30, 31). When wounded, human skin keratinocytes express K6, K16 and K17 (31), and recent investigations have not agreed on whether the newly expressed keratins are localized only in the suprabasilar keratinocyte of the re-epithelializing wound (32), or if they are also expressed in the basal cells that migrate across the wound bed (33). The signals that initiate the synthesis of the unique "wound" or "hyperproliferative" keratins are likely cytokines and growth factors that are abundant in the wound environment, including IL-1 (34), EGF and TGFalpha (35). Although it is undisputed that K6, K16 and K17 are upregulated in response to injury, the functional significance of this switch in keratin expression is less clear. Although hypothesized to confer more advantageous viscoelastic properties on the migrating keratinocytes (36), there is, at this time, no evidence to support this claim. Recent work has, however, uncovered a mechanistic link

between K17 and one aspect of re-epithelialization: the increase in protein synthesis and cell growth seen in murine keratinocytes in the wound bed. K17 can bind to an adaptor protein member of the 14-3-3 family, which in turn activates the mTOR kinase signaling pathway to result in stimulation of cell growth (37). Since the mTOR kinase pathway is activated in many cancers (38), this non-mechanical role of K17 may have implications not only in wound healing, but in control of carcinogenesis, cell growth and tissue homeostasis.

5. GROWTH FACTORS AND CYTOKINES

Growth factors and cytokines help regulate wound healing events. They orchestrate a complex and dynamic balance of signals that induce cellular migration, proliferation, and differentiation, underscoring the complex integration of signals in the wound healing environment. Recent excellent reviews have detailed the interactions of growth factors and cytokines with the various cells within the healing wound (39-45), and this review will, therefore, only focus on those that specifically interact with keratinocytes to modulate the re-epithelialization process.

5.1. EGF family

The role of the epidermal growth factor (EGF) family of growth factors that signals through the EGF receptor (EGFR), is perhaps the best characterized. These ligands induce dimerization of their tyrosine kinase transmembrane receptor, which results in autophosphorylation of the receptor, tvrosine phosphorylation of other proteins and subsequent activation of a number of pathways that converge to promote cell migration. Numerous in vitro studies have demonstrated that activation of the EGFR, by the addition of exogenous ligands, increases keratinocyte proliferation (5, 46), and cell migration (47, 48) (reviewed in (5, 39, 40)). Early wound studies demonstrated a correlation in the increased expression of the EGFR with increased thickness of the epidermis of either tape-stripped wounds or burn wounds (49, 50). On the other hand, loss of expression of the EGFR was correlated with a decrease in epidermal thickness in healing wounds (49). Members of EGF family that have been shown specifically to modulate keratinocyte migration include EGF, HB-EGF, and TGF-alpha, as well as ligands for other receptors, angiotensin II (51) and the keratinocyte-released antimicrobial hCAP-18 (52), that stimulate keratinocyte migration by transactivation of the EGFR. Although there is agreement that the addition of exogenous EGFR ligands improves wound reepithelialization and wound closure rates in a number of different types of human skin wounds (53-57), it is not clear if the improvement is clinically significant enough to warrant the addition of exogenous EGFR ligand as a therapeutic approach (58). The pro-migratory effects of EGFR ligands in keratinocytes are well-documented (59), and a recent study suggests that of all the EGRF ligands, TGF-alpha is the most potent in terms of its ability to increase keratinocyte migration (47).

In vivo wound healing studies with knock-out mice have yielded conflicting results and reveal the

complexity in analyzing the wound environment wherein multiple growth factors may serve redundant functions. Few wound healing studies have been performed with EGFR deficient animal models, although abnormal epidermal proliferation was noted in EGFR null skin grafts onto nude mice (60). Two early studies with TGF-alpha deficient mice found no decrease in wound healing rates (61, 62), while a later, more detailed study found that partial-thickness murine ear wounds re-epithelialized at a lower rate and epidermal thickness was reduced in TGFalpha deficient mice (63). Interestingly, this study found that early re-epithelialization rates were impaired but by day 8 re-epithelialization rates were not altered. Another study looking at HB-EGF deficient mice found that reepithelialization of full-thickness punch wounds was unaltered early but was reduced at day 7 (64). Furthermore, this study found cell proliferation to be unaltered at 48 hours and later time points, in contrast to previous cell culture studies that had shown that HB-EGF increased keratinocyte proliferation (65). These contrasting results may be attributed to the differing time course of when certain EGF family growth factors are expressed, the differences in the models used, or the ability of one EGF ligand to compensate for the absence of another. Wound fluid studies have found increased levels of EGF, TGFalpha, and HB-EGF (65-67) in the early wound and these factors may be able to compensate for each other. However, since TGF-alpha is the most potent activator of keratinocyte migration (47), it would follow that early wound re-epithelialization rates would be impaired in its absence. It is unknown if TGF-alpha is also the most potent activator of epidermal proliferation although this is suggested from the TGF-alpha deficient mice studies (63). HB-EGF has been found to be secreted by keratinocytes at the leading edge of re-epithelialization in an autocrine mechanism, (68, 69) and this may play an important role in later stages of the healing wound as is suggested by the finding in HB-EGF deficient mice. Thus, there is strong evidence to support the notion that EGFR ligands in the wound work to promote its re-epithelialization by directly activating keratinocyte migration and inducing keratinocyte proliferation. Investigations continue with clinical trials to optimize the potential us of this growth factor to enhance healing in hard-to- heal wounds (70).

5.2. FGF family

The fibroblast growth factor (FGF) family, comprised of 23 members, is mitogenic for a broad range of cell types. Cutaneous wound healing studies have focused on four members of this family: FGF-2, FGF-7, FGF-10, and FGF-22. FGF-2, also known as bFGF, is released from damaged endothelial cells and has been found to be increased in wounds (5, 71-73). Cell culture studies have shown that FGF-2 is capable of increasing keratinocyte motility (47) and re-epithelialization in human skin explants (74). Similar results have also been found in animals studies where exogenous administration of FGF-2 increased wound re-epithelialization (75, 76). Knock-out studies have further confirmed these findings, demonstrating that mice deficient in FGF-2 have impaired re-epithelialization after wounding (77, 78).

FGF-7, also known as keratinocyte growth factor 1 (KGF-1), is increased in murine (71) and human skin wounds (79), and is secreted by dermal fibroblasts and gamma-delta T cells (5, 80-83). FGF-10, also known as KGF-2, is a close homologue to FGF-7 (84) that is expressed in normal and wounded skin (85). FGF-10 is also produced by dermal fibroblasts and gamma-delta T cells (81). The receptor to FGF-7 and FGF-10 is the FGFR2IIIb splice variant of the FGFR2 receptor and is found on epithelial cells (86). Thus, in the skin, only keratinocytes express this receptor. FGF-7 and FGF-10 act on the keratinocyte to increase proliferation and migration (reviewed in (80, 82)). In addition, FGF-7 and FGF-10 increase transcription of factors involved in the detoxification of reactive oxygen species (ROS), thereby reducing ROS-induced apoptosis of keratinocytes in the wound bed. This presumably allows wound keratinocytes to survive and carry out the functions necessary for reepithelialization. Studies using transgenic animals reveal the complex balance between these factors. Mice deficient in the FGFR2IIIb receptor have significant impairment in wound re-epithelialization (87), suggesting the importance of this signaling cascade in wound re-epithelialization. However, mice deficient in FGF-7 do not suffer from impaired wound healing (88), and this was hypothesized to be due to the compensatory effect of FGF-10. FGF-10 knock-out mice are not suitable for study since these mice do not survive long after birth due to severe developmental abnormalities (89), but mice deficient in the T-cell delta receptor had decreased keratinocyte proliferation and decreased wound closure that was restored with the addition of FGF-7 or wild-type gamma-delta T cells (81). Because the gamma-delta T cells are an important source of FGF-7 and FGF-10, the mice deficient in the T-cell delta receptor had an absence of both FGF-7 and FGF-10 in their wounds. Interestingly, FGF-10 was present in the wounded skin of FGF-7 deficient mice (81), lending support to the notion that FGF-10 can compensate for the lack of FGF-7 in animals that have this gene deleted.

FGF-22 has been recently identified as a factor with homology to both FGF-7 and FGF-10 and has thus been hypothesized to also act through the FGFR2IIIb receptor (90, 91). Unlike FGF-7 and FGF-10, FGF-22 is expressed in an autocrine fashion by hair follicle keratinocytes and by the keratinocytes of the hypertrophic epidermis of the wound bed in the late stages of wound healing (90, 91). FGF-22 has been measured in unwounded skin (90, 92) but conflicting results have been found regarding post-wound levels of FGF-22. One investigation found that FGF-22 levels were increased from day 7 to day 13 after wounding (90), but another study found FGF-22 levels to be decreased to half the pre-wound levels at 21 days after wounding (92). This discrepancy may be due to the different strains of mice used in each study. More studies will be needed to better identify whether the keratinocyte is the target of FGF-22 and what role it plays in keratinocyte and wound healing physiology.

5.3. TGF-beta family

The transforming growth factor-beta (TGF-beta) superfamily consists of TGF-beta1-3, bone morphogenic

proteins (BMPs), activins, nodals, growth and differentiation factor (GDF), and Muellerian inhibiting substance (93). This review will primarily focus on the effects of the TGF-beta1-3 subfamily, the activin subfamily, and the BMP subfamily, since these factors have been found to have effects on wound keratinocytes (reviewed in (40, 45)). TGF-beta has been found in wound fluid and TGF-beta1 and TGF-beta2 are secreted by keratinocytes in a paracrine and autocrine fashion (94).

Studies into the role of TGF-beta in the wound are conflicting and further studies will be necessary to better define the effects of TGF-beta on re-epithelialization. TGF-beta has been shown to modulate keratinocyte integrin expression toward a more migratory phenotype (95, 96), suggesting a supportive role in re-epithelialization. On the other hand, TGF-beta was found to inhibit keratinocyte proliferation in vitro (97) and in vivo (98, 99), suggesting that TGF-beta would decrease the proliferative phase of the re-epithelialization process. However, other studies in animals that overexpressTGF-beta1 either through the K5 promoter (100) or as a response to overexpression of Smad2 via the K14 promoter (101) found an increase in the proliferative phenotype to the epidermis. A recent study that compared proliferation with different post-wound time points in mice overexpressing TGF-beta found that proliferation was decreased at early wound times but this trend reversed to an increase in keratinocyte proliferation at late wound healing time points (102). Exogenous TGF-beta has been shown to increase in vitro keratinocyte migration (96, 103) and partial thickness porcine skin explant wound re-epithelialization (104), lending support that TGF-beta increases keratinocyte motility and re-epithelialization. On the other hand, TGFbeta antagonists have been shown to increase porcine fullthickness wound re-epithelialization (105). TGF-beta overexpressing mice have decreased re-epithelialization of partial thickness burn wounds (99), and Smad 2 overexpressing mice exhibit delayed re-epithelialization of full-thickness excision wounds. Full thickness incisional wounds re-epithelialize faster in both TGF-beta null (106) and Smad 3 null mice (107). These apparently contradictory findings may be better understood in light of a recent study that compared full-thickness to partial thickness wound healing in mice overexpressing TGF-beta (102) and found that TGF-beta overexpression resulted in more rapid re-epithelialization of partial thickness wounds, vet a delay in re-epithelialization of full thickness wounds. The authors of this study suggest that in partial thickness wounds, a dermal substrate exists to allow for efficient keratinocyte migration once TGF-beta induces changes to a migratory integrin expression. However, in full thickness wounds, no such dermal substrate exists and they hypothesize that TGF-beta may be inhibiting reepithelialization through a mechanism independent of keratinocyte migration. In the study that showed delayed re-epithelialization in Smad 2 overexpressing animals (99) with partial-thickness burn wounds, it should be noted that burn wounds undergo a period of dermal necrosis after wounding (108), making it likely that keratinocytes adjacent to thermally damaged dermis are in an environment similar to that of a full-thickness wound.

Finally, TGF-beta3, present in serum which is a component of the wound, but absent from plasma (present in unwounded skin) may also play a role by selectively stimulating keratinocyte, but not fibroblast migration (103).

Activin, another member of the TGF-beta superfamily of ligands, is expressed in wound tissue and is produced by granulation tissue, suprabasal keratinocytes at the hyperproliferative epidermal wound margin, and in keratinocytes of the re-epithelializing tongue (109). In vitro studies have found that activin reduces cell proliferation and induces terminal differentiation in cultured keratinocytes (110). Studies with mice that overexpress activin under the control of a K14 promoter in the epidermis demonstrate a disorganized epidermal architecture with an increase in its thickness and altered differentiation (111). These activin-mediated changes were dose-dependent (112). In contrast to the hypertrophy seen in the epidermis of activin overexpressing animals, atrophy of the epidermis was found in mice overexpressing the activin antagonist, follistatin (113). Yet, no significant difference in re-epithelialization rates was found after wounding either of these transgenic mice. Since studies in mice deficient in the TGF-beta downstream signaling molecule, Smad 3, demonstrate acceleration of reepithelialization after wounding (107), it is likely that activin does not utilize this signaling pathway (113). In vitro studies show that the addition of exogenous activin inhibits keratinocyte proliferation (110), yet the aforementioned in vivo studies show that activin overexpression leads to increased epidermal thickening. A recent study (114) sheds more light on this discrepancy: overexpression of the Id1 gene, a downstream regulator of activin, only alters keratinocyte biology when cells are in a three-dimensional environment, and has no effect in monolayer culture. Thus, additional studies using in vivo wounds or three dimensional in vitro wounds are needed to fully clarify the role of the activin cascade in wound reepithelialization.

The BMPs are another subfamily within the TGF-beta superfamily and many BMPs are involved in the formation of skin (reviewed in (115)). In particular, the effects of BMP-6 have been studied in keratinocytes. In vitro studies have shown that BMP-6 inhibits proliferation and induces differentiation of keratinocytes (116, 117). This finding is supported by in vivo studies that demonstrate that BMP-6 accumulates in suprabasal keratinocytes following wound re-epithelialization (118). In vivo studies with mice overexpressing BMP-6 in suprabasal keratinocytes have shown differential effects on keratinocytes based on the level of BMP-6 expression (119). High expression of BMP-6 inhibited keratinocyte proliferation without affecting differentiation while low, patchy expression of BMP-6 resulted in a hyperproliferative epidermis, suggesting that BMP-6 was important in controlling hyperproliferation of the epidermis. Indeed, transgenic animals that overexpress BMP-6 suffer from delayed re-epithelialization (118). Taken together, these results suggest that BMP-6 plays an important role in maturation and stratification of the epidermis after wound re-epithelialization, and early

pathological expression of this protein can lead to impairment in wound healing.

5.4. Other growth factors

Less studied growth factors in keratinocyte physiology include granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and insulin growth factor (IGF). GM-CSF has been shown to be increased in the epidermis of full thickness excisional wounds in mice (120). Studies utilizing transgenic mice that expressed GM-CSF in their suprabasal layers found that these animals had increased keratinocyte proliferation at the wound edge and enhanced re-epithelialization of full-thickness excision wounds (120). Since IFN-gamma and IL-6, known to be important in re-epithelialization (121), were also temporally elevated compared to controls, the authors hypothesized (120) that GM-CSF expression increases reepithelialization through the upregulation of these cytokines in addition to its direct action on keratinocytes. IGF has also been measured in wounds (65, 122, 123), and has been shown to increase keratinocyte motility (47, 124). Studies of keratinocyte monolayer scratch wounds revealed that IGF-1 is able to increase wound closure alone and can also act in a synergistic manner with EGF (60).

5.5. Dependence on extracellular matrix

It should be mentioned that the growth factors and cytokines provide motogenic stimulation for keratinocytes that are adherent to matrix, and thus the nature of the matrix on which they are adhered modulates the motogenic response. Numerous studies have demonstrated that the composition of the underlying extracellular matrix can modify the speed of keratinocyte migration in the presence of growth factors (103, 125-131). Mechanisms by which this occurs include synergistic activation of kinase cascades that converge upon migration (132), and upregulation of specific integrins that contribute to a motile phenotype by the growth factors (95). A marked change in the composition of the matrix underlying the keratinocytes accompanies wounding. Post-wounding, keratinocytes are in contact with the provisional matrix composed of fibronectin and fibrinogen rather than the components of the basement membrane (133), and this can alter the phenotype of the overlying keratinocytes (reviewed in (134)). This underscores the complex and synergistic interaction of keratinocytes with its matrix, and wound-expressed growth factors and cytokines.

5.6. Cytokines

Cytokines are small protein hormones primarily secreted by immune cells and are important mediators of host defense, post-injury repair, cell growth and maturation (135). Inflammatory cytokines are felt to have roles in wound healing including stimulation of keratinocytes and proliferation of fibroblasts. Although these cytokines have many important actions in the actively healing wound, this review will focus on the cytokines that are able to modulate keratinocyte migration and wound re-epithelialization. IL-1, IL-6, and TNF-alpha are upregulated during the inflammatory phase of wound healing (reviewed in (40)) and are important in modulating the migratory phenotype of the keratinocyte.

IL-1 has been measured in the active wound and is produced by monocytes, macrophages, and also by keratinocytes (136-138). Keratinocytes contain both the unprocessed forms of both alpha and beta forms of IL-1 in the cytoplasm, and these are further processed and released after injury (reviewed in (139)). Besides serving as a paracrine signal to surrounding cells of the wound, IL-1 also acts as an autocrine signal that increases keratinocyte migration and proliferation (139-141). IL-1 induces the expression of K6 and K16 in keratinocytes migrating into the wound (34, 139). Indeed, exogenously administered IL-1 had been previously found to increase healing in porcine partial thickness wounds (136). It was later shown that IL-1 released by keratinocytes activates nearby fibroblasts and increases the secretion of FGF-7 (142-146), which was noted to increase keratinocyte survival, motility, and proliferation (as discussed earlier in this review). In fact, keratinocyte released IL-1 has recently been shown to increase transcription of genes in dermal fibroblasts whose protein products have important roles in augmenting keratinocyte re-epithelialization in the wound (147).

TNF-alpha mRNA and protein were detected in murine (148, 149) and human skin wounds (150). Although this proinflammatory cytokine is produced by many cell types in the healing wound, IL-1 also induces keratinocyte production of TNF-alpha (151-153). Similar to IL-1, TNF-alpha can induce the production of FGF-7 (146), suggesting that TNF-alpha can promote keratinocyte wound re-epithelialization. However, mice deficient in the TNF-alpha receptor, p55, were paradoxically found to have wound re-epithelialization (154) increased and keratinocytes are known to normally express this receptor (155). This suggests that TNF-alpha may indirectly augment re-epithelialization though the expression of FGF-7 while directly inhibiting re-epithelialization through the keratinocyte p55 receptor. The direct effects seem to play a more dominant role based on the p55 knock-out mice wound healing studies (154), but the mechanisms involved are still unknown.

Like IL-1 and TNF-alpha, IL-6 is also increased locally after wounding (138, 150, 156), and interestingly IL-6 was found to persist in older wounds. IL-6 has been shown to both increase keratinocyte proliferation (157, 158) and migration (159), and indeed, IL-6 deficient mice have a significant delay in wound re-epithelialization (121). Whether IL-6 affects keratinocytes through a direct or indirect mechanism is still under study and there is evidence that possibly both occur. IL-6 seems to increase keratinocyte migration through an indirect stimulatory pathway involving the release of factors from dermal fibroblasts that have yet to be identified (159). IL-6 is hypothesized to act through a STAT3-dependent pathway since phosphorylation of STAT3 increased in dermal fibroblasts treated with exogenous IL-6 (159). Targeted deletion of keratinocyte STAT3 results in an animal with impaired wound re-epithelialization, and keratinocytes derived from these animals fail to respond to recognized motogenic factors such as EGF, TGF-alpha, or IL-6 with a migratory response (160). Interestingly, IL-22 is another activator of STAT3 that has also been shown to promote keratinocyte migration (161, 162). Therefore, it is still unclear how important of a role IL-6 plays in the direct regulation of keratinocyte migration in comparison to other cytokines and growth factors readily available in the wounded environment. Taken together, it seems reasonable to propose that IL-6 plays an important role in regulating keratinocyte motility and wound re-epithelialization and seems to act through both indirect and direct signaling pathways.

6. CHEMOKINES

Chemokines are family of cytokines that stimulate chemotaxis in a number of different cell types, and play an important role in lymphocyte trafficking and in recruiting inflammatory cells into cutaneous wounds. In this review, however, we focus on the chemokines that have been shown to alter keratinocyte migration and/or wound re-epithelialization.

There are four subfamilies in this family, based on their conserved cysteine residues: CXC, CC, CX3C and C, (where X represents any amino acid residue) and of these, the CXC, CC and C families appear to contribute to the keratinocyte's role in wound repair. These ligands bind to G protein coupled receptors expressed on resident target cell membranes. Specific receptors for these two members of the family, the CXCR (previously called the receptor for IL-8) and CCR (and their subtypes) have been identified in keratinocytes (163-166) and account for the functional migratory responses of these cells to locally generated chemokines.

Macrophage chemoattractant protein (MCP-1 or CCL2) is a CC family chemokine, which is a strong chemoattractant for macrophages and monocytes (reviewed in (40)). In both human and murine wounds, upregulation of either MCP-1 mRNA or the protein has been observed (167) (168, 169). The temporal pattern of MCP-1 expression suggests its role is to recruit macrophages to the wound, although in transgenic animals in which this gene has been knocked out demonstrate wound macrophage numbers equivalent to wild type animal (170). Nevertheless, the MCP-1 deficient animals display delayed wound re-epithelialization, suggesting that this chemokine is involved in regulating keratinocyte migration.

The GRO-alpha /CXCL1 chemokine, a recognized regulator of neutrophil chemotaxis, (reviewed in(40)) is upregulated in the epidermis of regenerating human burn wounds (166), and its murine homlog, MIP-2, is upregulated in keratinocytes adjacent to incisional wounds (171). GRO-alpha binds to the CXCR2 receptor on keratinocytes, and this receptor is upregulated in human burn wound epidermis in the early postburn phase (166). Other evidence to support a role for this chemokine in re-epithelialization comes from studies using CXCR2 knock-out animals, in which re-epithelialization of an excisional wound is delayed (163). In addition to the co-associated defect in neutrophil recruitment to the wound, loss of the CXCR2 receptor on the keratinocyte imparts a direct effect on its ability to migrate into the wound. *In vitro* studies,

with keratinocytes isolated from these animals, demonstrate that their migration and ability to heal an *in vitro* wound is also impaired (163).

C10, a CC family chemokine also called macrophage inflammatory protein-related prtoein1 (MRP-1) or CCL6 (172), is also implicated in wound reepithelialization. Both C10 protein and mRNA are increased in the epidermis adjacent to healing excisional murine wounds. However, functional studies for this chemokine to support its role in modulating keratinocyte migration are not yet available.

Two chemokines of the CXC family, in which a Glu-Leu-Arg sequence critical for neutrophil activation is missing, hence named the ELR-negative CXC chemokines, that bind to a common CXCR3 receptor (173) have been recently found to specifically modulate keratinocyte migration. One member of this group, interferon gammainducible protein (IP-10, or CXCL10) is highly expressed in inflammatory dermatoses, including psoriasis (reviewed in (40)). It is actively synthesized and secreted by human keratinocytes (174, 175), and is present in the wound site (167). It appears however to have a negative impact on wound healing. In transgenic animals that constitutively over-express 1P-10 in their keratinocytes, wound healing is delayed (176). Part of the delay may derive from its effects on dermal fibroblasts, where it decreases their migratory rate by inhibiting the release of the rear of the cell from the substratum, though a protein kinase A- calpain inhibitory cascade (177). Evidence for specific migratory effects on keratinocytes is lacking. A second member of this ELR-negative CXC chemokine family, interferon-inducible protein 9 (IP-9 or CXCL11) is also expressed in keratinocytes (178) and displays similar inhibition of fibroblast migration (173). Interestingly, however, it has the opposite effect on keratinocytes, since it increases their motility (179). This is accomplished by the different signaling pathway the keratinocyte uses to transduce the IP-10 signal, through phospholipase C-beta / Ca+2 resulting in activation of a distinct calpain isoform Although wounding monolayers of cultured (179). keratinocytes increases their expression of IP-10 (173), to date, there is no evidence that the synthesis of this chemokine is modulated in wounded skin in vivo.

Levels of the chemokine interleukin 8 (IL-8, or CXCL8) are increased in the dermis of acute surgical human wounds as well (167). Since in vitro studies show that IL-8 can stimulate both human keratinocyte migration (180) and proliferation (181), it is proposed to play a positive role in wound re-epithelialization (167, 182). Yet, paradoxically, high levels of this chemokine accumulate in non-healing human burn wounds, although the source of the generated chemokine is not known (183). Further, addition of IL-8 to cultured keratinocytes at the high level found in burn wounds decreases, rather than increases, their proliferation (183). Thus, not only is wound healing regulated by the temporo-spatial expression of multiple chemokines, but also the balance of production of the individual players.

The study of the expression of other chemokines in keratinocytes is an area that is rapidly evolving, and chemokines other than the ones discussed above have been noted to be expressed in keratinocytes (e.g. CX3CL1 (184)), as have other chemokine receptors (e.g CCR4 (164)). However, no evidence connecting them functionally to keratinocyte re-epithelialization of wound has yet been presented. These, and other chemokines and their receptors may yet prove to be important in this process, and further investigations will likely supply answers regarding their roles.

7. EICOSANOIDS

Eicosanoids are biologically active lipid mediators and second messengers, derived from the precursor 20 carbon polyunsaturated arachidonic acid (AA) (eicosa = Greek word for 20). AA is normally esterified within cell membrane phospholipids, where it can be released by a number of stimuli that activate the appropriate phospholipase. Once released, AA is metabolized by one of three distinct enzyme systems: the cyclooxygenase (COX) pathway to generate prostaglandin derivatives, the lipoxygenase (LOX), to generate HETEs and leukotrienes, or the cytochrome P450 dependent epoxidases that can generate either HETEs or EETs. The repertoire of metabolites generated is highly dependent on cell type and the initiating stimulus. Thus a keratinocyte can be highly plastic in its ability to modulate its response via metabolism through one of the three pathways.

Human keratinocytes possess active COX and LOX pathways and synthesize a number of eicosanoid products (reviewed in (185)). Two isoforms of cyclooxygenase, COX-1 and COX-2 are expressed in human keratinocytes, although it is the COX-2 isozymes that is constitutively expressed in the in the more differentiated layers of the epidermis (186). The major COX product expressed in the epidermis is PGE2, and the major LOX product is 15-HETE. Notably absent from normal epidermis or from cultured keratinocytes are the leukotrienes (187, 188). While keratinocytes do not appear to be able to synthesize LTs de novo, they do have an active LTA4 hydrolase, and can convert preformed LTA4, either exogenously added, or provided by leukocytes (via trans-cellular metabolism) into LTB4 (188-191). Thus, in the absence of leukocytes, the epidermis does not synthesize LTs. Since wound re-epithelialization can and does proceed in the experimental absence of PMNs (192). this suggests that leukotrienes are not required for normal wound re-epithelialization.

The lipoxygenases are a structurally related family of non-heme iron dioxygenases that function in the production of fatty acid hydroperoxides. Their substrates are polyunsaturated fatty acids containing a series of cis double bonds, i.e. essential fatty acids in humans. The nomenclature for the family is based on the specificity of each enzyme's action on its substrate. So, for example, 12-LOX oxygenates AA at carbon-12, generating 12-HETE, 5-LOX at the carbon-5 position, and so on. The immediate, unstable oxygenated intermediate is the corresponding hydroperoxy-eicosatetraenoic acid, HPETE, which is rapidly transformed to the corresponding HETE. The products of 5-LOX, include 5-HETE and LTA4 which may be further metabolized to generate leukotriene mediators of inflammation and allergy. Additionally, LOXs may be identified by their stereo-specificity, for example 12*R*-LOX or 12*S*-LOX have both been described in keratinocytes (193). There is an additional level of nomenclature, where the enzymes are named after the tissue in which they where they were first observed: e.g. platelet, leukocyte, and epidermal 12-LOXs (194).

Despite the widespread use of non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs that inhibit eicosanoid generation, their effect on cutaneous wound healing has only recently been investigated. These drugs exert their anti-inflammatory effects by inhibiting cyclooxygenase (COX) enzymes, and subsequent prostaglandin synthesis. One might reasonably expect COX metabolites to regulate wound repair. In fibroblasts, LOX metabolism is required for the first stage of cell adhesion, and the COX pathway is required for the subsequent formation of actin bundles that promote cell motility (195-197). Thus, the expectation is that inhibition of the COX pathway would result in decreased cell motility, and therefore delayed wound repair. Indeed, the ability of COX-1 and COX-2 inhibitors to negatively impact upon gastric ulcer healing is well documented. Yet, remarkably, COX products do not appear to play a role in cutaneous wound repair. Both incisional and excisional wounds, in either rats or mice, appear to heal normally despite pharmacologic inhibition of either COX-1 or COX-2 with appropriate systemically delivered inhibitors (198-200). Although wounding skin results in a transient upregulation of COX-2, particularly in the epidermal wound margin (201), animals in whom either COX-1 or -2 has been knocked-out demonstrate no difference in the rate of wound re-epithelialization (202). A decrease in wound tensile strength has been reported in these animals suggesting that COX enzymes may contribute to the later remodeling phase, rather than the re-epithelialization phase of wound healing.

Even less is known about the roles of LOX enzymes with respect to wound healing. In normal human skin and keratinocytes, the major HETEs identified are products of 12 and 15-LOX enzymes (203-205)(reviewed in(185)). However, at least nine lipoxygenases have been identified and cloned in human or murine skin, including three isoforms of 12S LOX, 12R LOX, two 15-LOXs, 5 LOX, epidermis-type LOX-3, and 8-LOX (identified in murine skin only)(193, 206-208). HETEs in the epidermis may also be generated by cytochrome P450 isoforms, including a novel cytochrome P450 enzyme, CYP2B19, that generates 11S-, 12R- and 15R-HETEs in murine skin (209). LOX products have long been implicated in skin physiology, starting with the observation of the abnormal permeability in the skin of patients whose diets are deficient in essential fatty acid eicosanoid precursors (210). However, a physiologic role has only been identified for two of the possible HETE products of the epidermis. The previously presumed role of 12-HETE in maintaining the percutaneous barrier was convincingly demonstrated in

mice in whom the 12-LOX gene has been inactivated. These animals demonstrate increased transepidermal water loss (211). 12-HETE has also been implicated in inflammatory processes in the skin, most notably in psoriasis where expression of the 12-LOX enzyme and its HETE product are increased in the hyperproliferative epidermis (204). Very recently, mutations in the genes for LOX-3 and 12*R*-LOX have been reported in kindreds with the autosomal recessive, non-bullous congenital ichthyosiform erythroderma (208), consistent with the proposed role for LOX in maintaining epidermal homeostasis. Only two studies, both by Ruzicka (212, 213), however, have hinted at a role for 12-HETE in wound healing. High affinity binding of 12-HETE on cultured keratinocytes was described, along with keratinocyte chemotaxis to this eicosanoid, implicating 12-HETE in wound healing. Curiously, no other studies have followed up on this original observation.

8. OXYGEN

Anoxia is a contributor to non-healing wounds, and increasing delivery of oxygen to tissue is one clinical approach to enhancing wound repair. The changes in oxygen tension induced by hyperbaric oxygen may, by rapidly increasing and then decreasing oxygen concentrations in the tissue, initiate as yet unclear signaling cascades that culminate in proliferation and increased collagen production (214, 215). Although increases in oxygen tension indeed to improve many aspects of the dermal component of wound healing, the effects on keratinocyte and re-epithelialization, the subject of this review, are quite different.

Interestingly, human keratinocyte proliferation and clonogenicity in culture are enhanced by anoxic (<1% oxygen tension) as compared to normoxic conditions (21% oxygen tension) (216). Higher oxygen tensions, consistent with hyperbaric oxygen clinical treatments, decrease proliferative capacity further (217). Oxidative stress induced by the increased concentrations may play a role in decreasing keratinocyte proliferation, since this is diminished in the presence of antioxidants (218). Hypoxemic conditions (2%) can also suppress the genetic differentiation program in cultured keratinocytes (219), and thus sustain the cellular phenotype that is more able to participate in wound repair. Hypoxia also appears to be beneficial to the re-epithelialization process by increasing keratinocyte motility. A number of studies have demonstrated that keratinocyte migration in vitro is enhanced under hypoxic conditions (216, 220, 221). The mechanism for the increase in motility seem to be related to an increase in lamellipodial extrusion, with an associated redistribution of lamellipodia-associated proteins (erkin, radexin, moesin) (220) as well as an increased expression of matrix metalloproteinases (221). Hypoxemic culture conditions also upregulate the alphaVbeta6 integrin (222) associated with a more motile keratinocyte phenotype(23). How, or if, these in vitro findings translate to in vivo wound reepithelialization is not yet clear and awaits further investigation.

9. ANTIMICROBIAL PEPTIDES

Keratinocytes play an important role in the innate immune response (223) and produce antimicrobial peptides that are important for both homeostatic and wound healing purposes. Human keratinocytes are known to produce four such peptides: human beta-defensin 1 (hBD-1), hBD-2, hBD-3, and hCAP-18 (and its biologically active proteolytic product LL-37) (224). hCAP-18 is a member of the cathelicidin family of antimicrobials (224). The release of these factors by keratinocytes can be induced by either the presence of microbial components or by wounding, in the absence of bacteria, through a mechanism that involves the release of HB-EGF and the subsequent transactivation of the EGF receptor (225, 226). Several different mechanisms may be involved in the release of keratinocyte hBDs: 1) activation of the EGF receptor that leads to an increase in hBD-3, 2) IL-1 activation of Toll-like receptors (TLRs) leading to the release of hBD-2, 3) increased release of hBD-1 when exposed to microbial components through an undetermined mechanism (reviewed in (225)). The cathelicidin hCAP-18 is normally processed and stored in the lamellar bodies of the keratinocytes and may be released as a result of injury or exposure to microbial components (227). After secretion, hCAMP-18 is processed into LL-37 and various other peptides which are important in killing the skin pathogens \hat{S} . aureus and C. albicans (228). Interestingly, however, it has also been reported that hCAP-18 increases keratinocyte motility and therefore increases the wound re-epithelialization rate by HB-EGF mediated transactivation of the EGF receptor (52). This suggests that the antimicrobials can also play a role in increasing wound closure to help seal off the wound from microbes.

expression Upregulated of various antimicrobial peptides has been observed after wounding. Beta-defensin-2 is expressed at very low levels in normal skin, but expression is increased in the epidermis of both surgically wounded skin and chronic wounds (venous ulcers) (229). LL-37 is also upregulated in the epidermis of surgically wounded human skin within 24 hours of wounding (230), reaching highest levels at 48 hours post-wounding, and returning to basal levels when the wound is re-epithelialized (231). LL-37 immunoreactivity is also localized to the advancing edge of the epithelial tongue in acute wounds. Interestingly, although expression of the antimicrobial peptide betadefensin-2 is increased in the epidermis surrounding chronic venous stasis wounds, LL-37 is notably absent It is likely that additional in this area (231). investigations will uncover specific roles for the individual antimicrobial peptides in the process of wound re-epithelialization. Evidence available at this point suggests that they are active participants in this process.

10. MATRIX METALLOPROTEINASES

Important in the re-epithelialization process is the ability of keratinocytes to be able to detach from the underlying basal lamina and migrate through the fibrin and ECM meshwork of the wound. Matrix metalloproteinases play a crucial role in this process and are secreted by various cells of the wound, and there are many subtypes that have identified (reviewed in (232)). After cutaneous injury, MMP expression is temporally and spatially regulated in the wound and has been the subject of other reviews (233-238). This review will focus on MMPs that help initiate and maintain keratinocyte migration necessary for wound re-epithelialization. MMPs that have been implicated in the modulation of keratinocyte motility include MMP-1, MMP-2, MMP-3, MMP-10, MMP-14, MMP-19, MMP-28 (232, 239-245).

MMPs levels increase in the early stages of wound healing (246, 247), and several signals in the wound environment are responsible for this. In unwounded skin, keratinocytes directly contact the basal lamina and do not contact the underlying type 1 collagen of the dermis. Once the skin is wounded, keratinocytes are exposed to and bind type 1 collagen and this was found to stimulate an EGF receptor-dependent cascade leading to keratinocyte expression of MMP-1, associated with increased motility (235, 242, 247, 248). Interestingly, reformation of the basement membrane and keratinocyte contact with laminin-111 (also known as laminin-1), but not laminin-332, serves as a signal for the down-regulation of MMP-1 (247). Cytokines and growth factors normally found in the wound also stimulate MMP production (59, 249-253). In fact, exogenous addition of TGF-beta antisense oligonucleotides was shown to reduce MMP production in keratinocytes (253). Other molecules, such as activated protein C, have been shown to be inducers of MMP-2 and modulate keratinocyte migration (244).

The importance of MMPs in the wound is underscored by experiments that have shown that exogenous treatment with MMP inhibitors delay wound healing and re-epithelialization (241, 254). On the other hand, overexpression of the MMPs has been shown to be detrimental to the wound healing process and have been shown to be elevated in chronic wounds (237, 255). For example transgenic animals overexpressing MMP-1 in their epidermal layers had impaired wound reepithelialization, (256). Balancing the actions of the MMPs are the tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs) (234, 238, 257, 258), which inhibit the effects of MMPs. However, transgenic mice overexpressing TIMP-1 have impaired wound re-epithelialization (245). Therefore, a balance must be maintained between MMPs and TIMPs. In fact, chronic wounds have been shown to express elevated levels of MMPs and decreased levels of TIMPs (reviewed in (232)). Taken together, successful reepithelialization hinges on the proper balance of MMP and TIMP expression and their levels are under tight regulation for optimal keratinocyte motility.

11. OTHER MEDIATORS

Novel potential mediators of wound reepithelialization have recently been reported. Here a few of these are reviewed.

11.1. Acetylcholine and nicotinic or muscarinic receptors

Keratinocytes can synthesize acetylcholine and its receptors, and thereby generate an autocrine system, which has recently been shown to regulate cell motility (reviewed in (259, 260)). This chemotactic pathway in keratinocytes is modulated by the alpha3 and alpha7 subtypes of nicotinic acetylcholine receptors, and transduced by a calcium-dependent pathway (261). Acetylcholine generated by keratinocytes, or neuronally released during the wound repair process (262) can also activate muscarinic receptors in keratinocytes, and depending on which subset are activated, either inhibition of migration (M3 subset) or activation of migration (M4 subset) has been observed in cultured human keratinocytes (263). Animals in whom the M4 receptor subtype has been genetically deleted also exhibit delayed wound epithelialization (263). These pro-migratory responses are mediated in part by activation of the Ras/Raf-1/MEK1/ERK pathway, and in part by modulation of the repertoire of integrins expressed in keratinocytes (259). Since the nicotinic and muscarinic receptor subtype expression on keratinocytes can be modulated by multiple culture conditions in vitro, it is likely that individual variations exist in vivo and factors including age and environmental conditions may confound the analysis of the contribution of nicotinic and muscarinic agents to wound healing.

11.2. Electric Fields

The unwounded epidermis displays а transepidermal potential voltage difference ranging from 10-60 mV, generated by the basolateral pumping of sodium ions in the epidermis (264). When wounded, this potential is short-circuited and the epidermis generates a lateral electric field with magnitudes measured in the range of 50-100 mV/mm (reviewed in (265, 266), and electric fields in this range can guide the directional migration of cultured keratinocytes in vitro (267). Thus, it has been proposed that endogenous wound -generated electric fields modulate keratinocyte re-epithelialization by guiding the cells' migratory paths. Multiple clinical studies have reported that application of electric fields to non-healing wounds hastens their repair, but these studies have suffered from technical shortcomings that limit their interpretation (266). Nevertheless, the signaling pathways activated by the exposure of keratinocytes and other epithelial cells to electric fields have been studied in detail, and the EGF receptor kinase (268), alpha6-beta4 integrin/ rac-1(21), and phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase-gamma (PI(3)K)gamma/ phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN) (269) signaling cascades have been identified as mediators of the cell polarization and directional migratory response to electric fields. Although direct evidence of electric field regulation of epithelial cell migration in the cornea has been documented (269), no such direct evidence in the skin is available yet.

11.3. Catecholamines and beta-adrenergic receptors

The epidermis has the capacity to generate catecholamine mediators, including epinephrine (reviewed in (259)) and these catecholamines can activate adrenergic

receptors present on keratinocytes to modulate their migratory behavior. Beta2 adrenergic receptor agonists decrease keratinocyte migratory speed in vitro (270), and prevent wound re-epithelialization of skin both ex vivo and in vivo (271). On the other hand, beta2 adrenergic receptor antagonists increase keratinocyte migratory speed, and the ability of a human skin wound to re-epithelialize (272). The beta2 adrenergic receptor is a G protein coupled receptor, and both the classical cAMP- mediated as well as cAMPindependent signaling pathways mediate the migratory responses to receptor activation in keratinocytes (273, 274). Like the acetylcholine autocrine hormonal regulatory system of the epidermis, the catecholamine/ beta2 adrenergic receptor autocrine hormonal system likely also contributes to epidermal homeostasis and wound reepithelialization.

12. CONCLUSION AND PERSPECTIVE

Multiple regulators impact on the keratinocytes' ability to migrate from the wound edge or other epidermal reservoirs to efficiently re-epithelialize a breach in the integrity of the epidermis. These signals must coordinate in a precise spatio-temporal manner to accomplish this task. The complexity of the interactions continues to be unraveled and in some ways we are just "beginning to scratch the surface" of this complicated and interactive cascade of events. Undoubtedly, new discoveries will continue to uncover the elegant network of events that result in restoration of epidermal integrity and complete the wound repair process.

13. REFERENCES

1. Santoro, M. M. & G. Gaudino: Cellular and molecular facets of keratinocyte reepithelization during wound healing. *Exp Cell Res*, 304, 274-86 (2005)

2. Andriessen, M. P., B. H. van Bergen, K. I. Spruijt, I. H. Go, J. Schalkwijk & P. C. van de Kerkhof: Epidermal proliferation is not impaired in chronic venous ulcers. *Acta Derm Venereol*, 75, 459-62 (1995)

3. Adair, H. M.: Epidermal repair in chronic venous ulcers. *Br J Surg*, 64, 800-4 (1977)

4. Stojadinovic, O., H. Brem, C. Vouthounis, B. Lee, J. Fallon, M. Stallcup, A. Merchant, R. D. Galiano & M. Tomic-Canic: Molecular pathogenesis of chronic wounds: the role of beta-catenin and c-myc in the inhibition of epithelialization and wound healing. *Am J Pathol*, 167, 59-69 (2005)

5. Martin, P.: Wound healing--aiming for perfect skin regeneration. *Science*, 276, 75-81 (1997)

6. Garrod, D. R., M. Y. Berika, W. F. Bardsley, D. Holmes & L. Tabernero: Hyper-adhesion in desmosomes: its regulation in wound healing and possible relationship to cadherin crystal structure. *J Cell Sci*, 118, 5743-54 (2005)

7. Wallis, S., S. Lloyd, I. Wise, G. Ireland, T. P. Fleming & D. Garrod: The alpha isoform of protein kinase C is involved in signaling the response of desmosomes to wounding in cultured epithelial cells. *Mol Biol Cell*, 11, 1077-92 (2000)

8. Savagner, P., D. F. Kusewitt, E. A. Carver, F. Magnino, C. Choi, T. Gridley & L. G. Hudson: Developmental transcription factor slug is required for effective reepithelialization by adult keratinocytes. *J Cell Physiol*, 202, 858-66 (2005)

9. Litjens, S. H., J. M. de Pereda & A. Sonnenberg: Current insights into the formation and breakdown of hemidesmosomes. *Trends Cell Biol*, 16, 376-83 (2006)

10. Goldfinger, L. E., S. B. Hopkinson, G. W. deHart, S. Collawn, J. R. Couchman & J. C. Jones: The alpha3 laminin subunit, alpha6beta4 and alpha3beta1 integrin coordinately regulate wound healing in cultured epithelial cells and in the skin. *J Cell Sci*, 112 (Pt 16), 2615-29 (1999)

11. Nguyen, B. P., M. C. Ryan, S. G. Gil & W. G. Carter: Deposition of laminin 5 in epidermal wounds regulates integrin signaling and adhesion. *Curr Opin Cell Biol*, 12, 554-62 (2000)

12. Hintermann, E. & V. Quaranta: Epithelial cell motility on laminin-5: regulation by matrix assembly, proteolysis, integrins and erbB receptors. *Matrix Biol*, 23, 75-85 (2004) 13. De Luca, M., G. Pellegrini, G. Zambruno & P. C. Marchisio: Role of integrins in cell adhesion and polarity in normal keratinocytes and human skin pathologies. *J Dermatol*, 21, 821-8 (1994)

14. Decline, F., O. Okamoto, F. Mallein-Gerin, B. Helbert, J. Bernaud, D. Rigal & P. Rousselle: Keratinocyte motility induced by TGF-beta1 is accompanied by dramatic changes in cellular interactions with laminin 5. *Cell Motil Cytoskeleton*, 54, 64-80 (2003)

15. Nikolopoulos, S. N., P. Blaikie, T. Yoshioka, W. Guo, C. Puri, C. Tacchetti & F. G. Giancotti: Targeted deletion of the integrin beta4 signaling domain suppresses laminin-5-dependent nuclear entry of mitogen-activated protein kinases and NF-kappaB, causing defects in epidermal growth and migration. *Mol Cell Biol*, 25, 6090-102 (2005)

16. Rabinovitz, I., L. Tsomo & A. M. Mercurio: Protein kinase C-alpha phosphorylation of specific serines in the connecting segment of the beta 4 integrin regulates the dynamics of type II hemidesmosomes. *Mol Cell Biol*, 24, 4351-60 (2004)

17. Dans, M., L. Gagnoux-Palacios, P. Blaikie, S. Klein, A. Mariotti & F. G. Giancotti: Tyrosine phosphorylation of the beta 4 integrin cytoplasmic domain mediates Shc signaling to extracellular signal-regulated kinase and antagonizes formation of hemidesmosomes. *J Biol Chem*, 276, 1494-502 (2001)

18. Santoro, M. M., G. Gaudino & P. C. Marchisio: The MSP receptor regulates alpha6beta4 and alpha3beta1 integrins via 14-3-3 proteins in keratinocyte migration. *Dev Cell*, 5, 257-71 (2003)

19. Russell, A. J., E. F. Fincher, L. Millman, R. Smith, V. Vela, E. A. Waterman, C. N. Dey, S. Guide, V. M. Weaver & M. P. Marinkovich: Alpha 6 beta 4 integrin regulates keratinocyte chemotaxis through differential GTPase activation and antagonism of alpha 3 beta 1 integrin. *J Cell Sci*, 116, 3543-56 (2003)

20. Choma, D. P., K. Pumiglia & C. M. DiPersio: Integrin alpha3beta1 directs the stabilization of a polarized lamellipodium in epithelial cells through activation of Rac1. *J Cell Sci*, 117, 3947-59 (2004)

21. Pullar, C. E., B. S. Baier, Y. Kariya, A. J. Russell, B. A. Horst, M. P. Marinkovich & R. R. Isseroff: {beta}4 Integrin and EGF Coordinately Regulate Electric Field-

mediated Directional Migration via Rac1. Mol Biol Cell (2006)

22. Larjava, H., T. Salo, K. Haapasalmi, R. H. Kramer & J. Heino: Expression of integrins and basement membrane components by wound keratinocytes. *J Clin Invest*, 92, 1425-35 (1993)

23. Breuss, J. M., J. Gallo, H. M. DeLisser, I. V. Klimanskaya, H. G. Folkesson, J. F. Pittet, S. L. Nishimura, K. Aldape, D. V. Landers, W. Carpenter & et al.: Expression of the beta 6 integrin subunit in development, neoplasia and tissue repair suggests a role in epithelial remodeling. *J Cell Sci*, 108 (Pt 6), 2241-51 (1995)

24. Haapasalmi, K., K. Zhang, M. Tonnesen, J. Olerud, D. Sheppard, T. Salo, R. Kramer, R. A. Clark, V. J. Uitto & H. Larjava: Keratinocytes in human wounds express alpha v beta 6 integrin. *J Invest Dermatol*, 106, 42-8 (1996)

25. Adams, J. C. & F. M. Watt: Expression of beta 1, beta 3, beta 4, and beta 5 integrins by human epidermal keratinocytes and non-differentiating keratinocytes. *J Cell Biol*, 115, 829-41 (1991)

26. Stepp, M. A., H. E. Gibson, P. H. Gala, D. D. Iglesia, A. Pajoohesh-Ganji, S. Pal-Ghosh, M. Brown, C. Aquino, A. M. Schwartz, O. Goldberger, M. T. Hinkes & M. Bernfield: Defects in keratinocyte activation during wound healing in the syndecan-1-deficient mouse. *J Cell Sci*, 115, 4517-31 (2002)

27. Stepp, M. A. & L. Zhu: Upregulation of alpha 9 integrin and tenascin during epithelial regeneration after debridement in the cornea. *J Histochem Cytochem*, 45, 189-201 (1997)

28. Grose, R., C. Hutter, W. Bloch, I. Thorey, F. M. Watt, R. Fassler, C. Brakebusch & S. Werner: A crucial role of beta 1 integrins for keratinocyte migration in vitro and during cutaneous wound repair. *Development*, 129, 2303-15 (2002)

29. Kubo, M., L. Van de Water, L. C. Plantefaber, M. W. Mosesson, M. Simon, M. G. Tonnesen, L. Taichman & R. A. Clark: Fibrinogen and fibrin are anti-adhesive for keratinocytes: a mechanism for fibrin eschar slough during wound repair. *J Invest Dermatol*, 117, 1369-81 (2001)

30. Stoler, A., R. Kopan, M. Duvic & E. Fuchs: Use of monospecific antisera and cRNA probes to localize the major changes in keratin expression during normal and abnormal epidermal differentiation. *J Cell Biol*, 107, 427-46 (1988)

31. Mansbridge, J. N. & A. M. Knapp: Changes in keratinocyte maturation during wound healing. *J Invest Dermatol*, 89, 253-63 (1987)

32. Patel, G. K., C. H. Wilson, K. G. Harding, A. Y. Finlay & P. E. Bowden: Numerous keratinocyte subtypes involved in wound re-epithelialization. *J Invest Dermatol*, 126, 497-502 (2006)

33. Usui, M. L., R. A. Underwood, J. N. Mansbridge, L. A. Muffley, W. G. Carter & J. E. Olerud: Morphological evidence for the role of suprabasal keratinocytes in wound reepithelialization. *Wound Repair Regen*, 13, 468-79 (2005)

34. Komine, M., L. S. Rao, T. Kaneko, M. Tomic-Canic, K. Tamaki, I. M. Freedberg & M. Blumenberg: Inflammatory versus proliferative processes in epidermis. Tumor necrosis factor alpha induces K6b keratin synthesis through a transcriptional complex containing NFkappa B and C/EBPbeta. J Biol Chem, 275, 32077-88 (2000)

35. Jiang, C. K., T. Magnaldo, M. Ohtsuki, I. M. Freedberg, F. Bernerd & M. Blumenberg: Epidermal growth factor and transforming growth factor alpha specifically induce the activation- and hyperproliferation-associated keratins 6 and 16. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 90, 6786-90 (1993)

36. Wong, P. & P. A. Coulombe: Loss of keratin 6 (K6) proteins reveals a function for intermediate filaments during wound repair. *J Cell Biol*, 163, 327-37 (2003)

37. Kim, S., P. Wong & P. A. Coulombe: A keratin cytoskeletal protein regulates protein synthesis and epithelial cell growth. *Nature*, 441, 362-5 (2006)

38. Rubio-Viqueira, B. & M. Hidalgo: Targeting mTOR for cancer treatment. *Curr Opin Investig Drugs*, 7, 501-12 (2006)

39. Grazul-Bilska, A. T., M. L. Johnson, J. J. Bilski, D. A. Redmer, L. P. Reynolds, A. Abdullah & K. M. Abdullah: Wound healing: the role of growth factors. *Drugs Today* (*Barc*), 39, 787-800 (2003)

40. Werner, S. & R. Grose: Regulation of wound healing by growth factors and cytokines. *Physiol Rev*, 83, 835-70 (2003)

41. Greenhalgh, D. G.: The role of growth factors in wound healing. *J Trauma*, 41, 159-67 (1996)

42. Goldman, R.: Growth factors and chronic wound healing: past, present, and future. *Adv Skin Wound Care*, 17, 24-35 (2004)

43. Adler, S. C. & K. J. Kent: Enhancing wound healing with growth factors. *Facial Plast Surg Clin North Am*, 10, 129-46 (2002)

44. Fu, X., X. Li, B. Cheng, W. Chen & Z. Sheng: Engineered growth factors and cutaneous wound healing: success and possible questions in the past 10 years. *Wound Repair Regen*, 13, 122-30 (2005)

45. Faler, B. J., R. A. Macsata, D. Plummer, L. Mishra & A. N. Sidawy: Transforming growth factor-beta and wound healing. *Perspect Vasc Surg Endovasc Ther*, 18, 55-62 (2006)

46. Rheinwald, J. G. & H. Green: Epidermal growth factor and the multiplication of cultured human epidermal keratinocytes. *Nature*, 265, 421-4 (1977)

47. Li, Y., J. Fan, M. Chen, W. Li & D. T. Woodley: Transforming Growth Factor-Alpha: A Major Human Serum Factor that Promotes Human Keratinocyte Migration. *J Invest Dermatol*, 126, 2096-2105 (2006)

48. McCawley, L. J., P. O'Brien & L. G. Hudson: Epidermal growth factor (EGF)- and scatter factor/hepatocyte growth factor (SF/HGF)-mediated keratinocyte migration is coincident with induction of matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-9. *Journal of Cellular Physiology*, 176, 255-265 (1998)

49. Stoscheck, C. M., L. B. Nanney & L. E. King, Jr.: Quantitative determination of EGF-R during epidermal wound healing. *J Invest Dermatol*, 99, 645-9 (1992)

50. Wenczak, B. A., J. B. Lynch & L. B. Nanney: Epidermal growth factor receptor distribution in burn wounds. Implications for growth factor-mediated repair. *J Clin Invest*, 90, 2392-401 (1992)

51. Yahata, Y., Y. Shirakata, S. Tokumaru, L. Yang, X. Dai, M. Tohyama, T. Tsuda, K. Sayama, M. Iwai, M.

Horiuchi & K. Hashimoto: A novel function of angiotensin II in skin wound healing. Induction of fibroblast and keratinocyte migration by angiotensin II via heparinbinding epidermal growth factor (EGF)-like growth factormediated EGF receptor transactivation. *J Biol Chem*, 281, 13209-16 (2006)

52. Tokumaru, S., K. Sayama, Y. Shirakata, H. Komatsuzawa, K. Ouhara, Y. Hanakawa, Y. Yahata, X. Dai, M. Tohyama, H. Nagai, L. Yang, S. Higashiyama, A. Yoshimura, M. Sugai & K. Hashimoto: Induction of keratinocyte migration via transactivation of the epidermal growth factor receptor by the antimicrobial peptide LL-37. *J Immunol*, 175, 4662-8 (2005)

53. Gwak, S. J., S. S. Kim, K. Sung, J. Han, C. Y. Choi & B. S. Kim: Synergistic effect of keratinocyte transplantation and epidermal growth factor delivery on epidermal regeneration. *Cell Transplant*, 14, 809-17 (2005) 54. Tanaka, A., T. Nagate & H. Matsuda: Acceleration of wound healing by gelatin film dressings with epidermal growth factor. *J Vet Med Sci*, 67, 909-13 (2005)

55. Schultz, G. S., M. White, R. Mitchell, G. Brown, J. Lynch, D. R. Twardzik & G. J. Todaro: Epithelial wound healing enhanced by transforming growth factor-alpha and vaccinia growth factor. *Science*, 235, 350-2 (1987)

56. Cribbs, R. K., M. H. Luquette & G. E. Besner: Acceleration of partial-thickness burn wound healing with topical application of heparin-binding EGF-like growth factor (HB-EGF). *J Burn Care Rehabil*, 19, 95-101 (1998)

57. Alemdaroglu, C., Z. Degim, N. Celebi, F. Zor, S. Ozturk & D. Erdogan: An investigation on burn wound healing in rats with chitosan gel formulation containing epidermal growth factor. *Burns*, 32, 319-27 (2006)

58. Falanga, V.: Growth Factors: their development and testing.

http://www.bu.edu/woundbiotech/growthfactors/gfdevtest.h tml (2006)

59. Hudson, L. G. & L. J. McCawley: Contributions of the epidermal growth factor receptor to keratinocyte motility. *Microsc Res Tech*, 43, 444-55 (1998)

60. Haase, I., R. Evans, R. Pofahl & F. M. Watt: Regulation of keratinocyte shape, migration and wound epithelialization by IGF-1- and EGF-dependent signalling pathways. *J Cell Sci*, 116, 3227-38 (2003)

61. Luetteke, N. C., T. H. Qiu, R. L. Peiffer, P. Oliver, O. Smithies & D. C. Lee: TGF alpha deficiency results in hair follicle and eye abnormalities in targeted and waved-1 mice. *Cell*, 73, 263-78 (1993)

62. Mann, G. B., K. J. Fowler, A. Gabriel, E. C. Nice, R. L. Williams & A. R. Dunn: Mice with a null mutation of the TGF alpha gene have abnormal skin architecture, wavy hair, and curly whiskers and often develop corneal inflammation. *Cell*, 73, 249-61 (1993)

63. Kim, I., J. E. Mogford, J. D. Chao & T. A. Mustoe: Wound epithelialization deficits in the transforming growth factor-alpha knockout mouse. *Wound Repair Regen*, 9, 386-90 (2001)

64. Shirakata, Y., R. Kimura, D. Nanba, R. Iwamoto, S. Tokumaru, C. Morimoto, K. Yokota, M. Nakamura, K. Sayama, E. Mekada, S. Higashiyama & K. Hashimoto: Heparin-binding EGF-like growth factor accelerates keratinocyte migration and skin wound healing. *J Cell Sci*, 118, 2363-70 (2005)

65. Marikovsky, M., K. Breuing, P. Y. Liu, E. Eriksson, S. Higashiyama, P. Farber, J. Abraham & M. Klagsbrun: Appearance of heparin-binding EGF-like growth factor in wound fluid as a response to injury. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 90, 3889-93 (1993)

66. Grayson, L. S., J. F. Hansbrough, R. L. Zapata-Sirvent, C. A. Dore, J. L. Morgan & M. A. Nicolson: Quantitation of cytokine levels in skin graft donor site wound fluid. *Burns*, 19, 401-5 (1993)

67. Ono, I., H. Gunji, J. Z. Zhang, K. Maruyama & F. Kaneko: Studies on cytokines related to wound healing in donor site wound fluid. *J Dermatol Sci*, 10, 241-5 (1995)

68. Hashimoto, K., S. Higashiyama, H. Asada, E. Hashimura, T. Kobayashi, K. Sudo, T. Nakagawa, D. Damm, K. Yoshikawa & N. Taniguchi: Heparin-binding epidermal growth factor-like growth factor is an autocrine growth factor for human keratinocytes. *J Biol Chem*, 269, 20060-6 (1994)

69. McCarthy, D. W., M. T. Downing, D. R. Brigstock, M. H. Luquette, K. D. Brown, M. S. Abad & G. E. Besner: Production of heparin-binding epidermal growth factor-like growth factor (HB-EGF) at sites of thermal injury in pediatric patients. *J Invest Dermatol*, 106, 49-56 (1996)

70. Viswanathan, V., S. Pendsey, N. Sekar & G. S. R. Murthy: A Phase III Study to Evaluate the Safety and Efficacy of Recombinant Human Epidermal Growth Factor (REGEN-DTM 150) in Healing Diabetic Foot Ulcer. *Wounds*, 18, 186-196 (2006)

71. Werner, S., K. G. Peters, M. T. Longaker, F. Fuller-Pace, M. J. Banda & L. T. Williams: Large induction of keratinocyte growth factor expression in the dermis during wound healing. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 89, 6896-900 (1992)

72. Gibran, N. S., F. F. Isik, D. M. Heimbach & D. Gordon: Basic fibroblast growth factor in the early human burn wound. *J Surg Res*, 56, 226-34 (1994)

73. Hakvoort, T., V. Altun, P. P. van Zuijlen, W. I. de Boer, W. A. van Schadewij & T. H. van der Kwast: Transforming growth factor-beta (1), -beta (2), -beta (3), basic fibroblast growth factor and vascular endothelial growth factor expression in keratinocytes of burn scars. *Eur Cytokine Netw*, 11, 233-39 (2000)

74. Bhora, F. Y., B. J. Dunkin, S. Batzri, H. M. Aly, B. L. Bass, A. N. Sidawy & J. W. Harmon: Effect of growth factors on cell proliferation and epithelialization in human skin. *J Surg Res*, 59, 236-44 (1995)

75. Sanz Garcia, S., X. Santos Heredero, A. Izquierdo Hernandez, E. Pascual Pena, G. Bilbao de Aledo & C. Hamann: Experimental model for local application of growth factors in skin re-epithelialisation. *Scand J Plast Reconstr Surg Hand Surg*, 34, 199-206 (2000)

76. Hebda, P. A., C. K. Klingbeil, J. A. Abraham & J. C. Fiddes: Basic fibroblast growth factor stimulation of epidermal wound healing in pigs. *J Invest Dermatol*, 95, 626-31 (1990)

77. Miller, D. L., S. Ortega, O. Bashayan, R. Basch & C. Basilico: Compensation by fibroblast growth factor 1 (FGF1) does not account for the mild phenotypic defects observed in FGF2 null mice. *Mol Cell Biol*, 20, 2260-8 (2000)

78. Ortega, S., M. Ittmann, S. H. Tsang, M. Ehrlich & C. Basilico: Neuronal defects and delayed wound healing in

mice lacking fibroblast growth factor 2. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA, 95, 5672-7 (1998)

79. Marchese, C., M. Chedid, O. R. Dirsch, K. G. Csaky, F. Santanelli, C. Latini, W. J. LaRochelle, M. R. Torrisi & S. A. Aaronson: Modulation of keratinocyte growth factor and its receptor in reepithelializing human skin. *J Exp Med*, 182, 1369-76 (1995)

80. auf demKeller, U., M. Krampert, A. Kumin, S. Braun & S. Werner: Keratinocyte growth factor: effects on keratinocytes and mechanisms of action. *Eur J Cell Biol*, 83, 607-12 (2004)

81. Jameson, J., K. Ugarte, N. Chen, P. Yachi, E. Fuchs, R. Boismenu & W. L. Havran: A role for skin gammadelta T cells in wound repair. *Science*, 296, 747-9 (2002)

82. Steiling, H. & S. Werner: Fibroblast growth factors: key players in epithelial morphogenesis, repair and cytoprotection. *Curr Opin Biotechnol*, 14, 533-7 (2003)

83. Boismenu, R. & W. L. Havran: Modulation of epithelial cell growth by intraepithelial gamma delta T cells. *Science*, 266, 1253-5 (1994)

84. Igarashi, M., P. W. Finch & S. A. Aaronson: Characterization of recombinant human fibroblast growth factor (FGF)-10 reveals functional similarities with keratinocyte growth factor (FGF-7). *J Biol Chem*, 273, 13230-5 (1998)

85. Beer, H. D., C. Florence, J. Dammeier, L. McGuire, S. Werner & D. R. Duan: Mouse fibroblast growth factor 10: cDNA cloning, protein characterization, and regulation of mRNA expression. *Oncogene*, 15, 2211-8 (1997)

86. Ornitz, D. M., J. Xu, J. S. Colvin, D. G. McEwen, C.
A. MacArthur, F. Coulier, G. Gao & M. Goldfarb: Receptor specificity of the fibroblast growth factor family. *J Biol Chem*, 271, 15292-7 (1996)

87. Werner, S., H. Smola, X. Liao, M. T. Longaker, T. Krieg, P. H. Hofschneider & L. T. Williams: The function of KGF in morphogenesis of epithelium and reepithelialization of wounds. *Science*, 266, 819-22 (1994)

88. Guo, L., L. Degenstein & E. Fuchs: Keratinocyte growth factor is required for hair development but not for wound healing. *Genes Dev*, 10, 165-75 (1996)

89. Sekine, K., H. Ohuchi, M. Fujiwara, M. Yamasaki, T. Yoshizawa, T. Sato, N. Yagishita, D. Matsui, Y. Koga, N. Itoh & S. Kato: Fgf10 is essential for limb and lung formation. *Nat Genet*, 21, 138-41 (1999)

90. Beyer, T. A., S. Werner, C. Dickson & R. Grose: Fibroblast growth factor 22 and its potential role during skin development and repair. *Exp Cell Res*, 287, 228-36 (2003)

91. Nakatake, Y., M. Hoshikawa, T. Asaki, Y. Kassai & N. Itoh: Identification of a novel fibroblast growth factor, FGF-22, preferentially expressed in the inner root sheath of the hair follicle. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1517, 460-3 (2001)
92. Komi-Kuramochi, A., M. Kawano, Y. Oda, M. Asada, M. Suzuki, J. Oki & T. Imamura: Expression of fibroblast growth factors and their receptors during full-thickness skin wound healing in young and aged mice. *J Endocrinol*, 186, 273-89 (2005)

93. Shi, Y. & J. Massague: Mechanisms of TGF-beta signaling from cell membrane to the nucleus. *Cell*, 113, 685-700 (2003)

94. Hashimoto, K.: Regulation of keratinocyte function by growth factors. *J Dermatol Sci*, 24 Suppl 1, S46-50 (2000)

95. Gailit, J., M. P. Welch & R. A. Clark: TGF-beta 1 stimulates expression of keratinocyte integrins during reepithelialization of cutaneous wounds. *J Invest Dermatol*, 103, 221-7 (1994)

96. Zambruno, G., P. C. Marchisio, A. Marconi, C. Vaschieri, A. Melchiori, A. Giannetti & M. De Luca: Transforming growth factor-beta 1 modulates beta 1 and beta 5 integrin receptors and induces the de novo expression of the alpha v beta 6 heterodimer in normal human keratinocytes: implications for wound healing. *J Cell Biol*, 129, 853-65 (1995)

97. Coffey, R. J., Jr., C. C. Bascom, N. J. Sipes, R. Graves-Deal, B. E. Weissman & H. L. Moses: Selective inhibition of growth-related gene expression in murine keratinocytes by transforming growth factor beta. *Mol Cell Biol*, 8, 3088-93 (1988)

98. Sellheyer, K., J. R. Bickenbach, J. A. Rothnagel, D. Bundman, M. A. Longley, T. Krieg, N. S. Roche, A. B. Roberts & D. R. Roop: Inhibition of skin development by overexpression of transforming growth factor beta 1 in the epidermis of transgenic mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 90, 5237-41 (1993)

99. Yang, L., T. Chan, J. Demare, T. Iwashina, A. Ghahary, P. G. Scott & E. E. Tredget: Healing of burn wounds in transgenic mice overexpressing transforming growth factor-beta 1 in the epidermis. *Am J Pathol*, 159, 2147-57 (2001)

100. Li, A. G., D. Wang, X. H. Feng & X. J. Wang: Latent TGFbeta1 overexpression in keratinocytes results in a severe psoriasis-like skin disorder. *Embo J*, 23, 1770-81 (2004)

101. Ito, Y., P. Sarkar, Q. Mi, N. Wu, P. Bringas, Jr., Y. Liu, S. Reddy, R. Maxson, C. Deng & Y. Chai: Overexpression of Smad2 reveals its concerted action with Smad4 in regulating TGF-beta-mediated epidermal homeostasis. *Dev Biol*, 236, 181-94 (2001)

102. Tredget, E. B., J. Demare, G. Chandran, E. E. Tredget, L. Yang & A. Ghahary: Transforming growth factor-beta and its effect on reepithelialization of partial-thickness ear wounds in transgenic mice. *Wound Repair Regen*, 13, 61-7 (2005)

103. Bandyopadhyay, B., J. Fan, S. Guan, Y. Li, M. Chen, D. T. Woodley & W. Li: A "traffic control" role for TGFbeta3: orchestrating dermal and epidermal cell motility during wound healing. *J Cell Biol*, 172, 1093-105 (2006)

104. Hebda, P. A.: Stimulatory effects of transforming growth factor-beta and epidermal growth factor on epidermal cell outgrowth from porcine skin explant cultures. *J Invest Dermatol*, 91, 440-5 (1988)

105. Huang, J. S., Y. H. Wang, T. Y. Ling, S. S. Chuang, F. E. Johnson & S. S. Huang: Synthetic TGF-beta antagonist accelerates wound healing and reduces scarring. *Faseb J*, 16, 1269-70 (2002)

106. Koch, R. M., N. S. Roche, W. T. Parks, G. S. Ashcroft, J. J. Letterio & A. B. Roberts: Incisional wound healing in transforming growth factor-beta1 null mice. *Wound Repair Regen*, 8, 179-91 (2000)

107. Ashcroft, G. S., X. Yang, A. B. Glick, M. Weinstein, J. L. Letterio, D. E. Mizel, M. Anzano, T. Greenwell-Wild, S. M. Wahl, C. Deng & A. B. Roberts: Mice lacking Smad3 show accelerated wound healing and an impaired local inflammatory response. *Nat Cell Biol*, 1, 260-6 (1999)

108. Kratz, G.: Modeling of wound healing processes in human skin using tissue culture. *Microsc Res Tech*, 42, 345-50 (1998)

109. Hubner, G., Q. Hu, H. Smola & S. Werner: Strong induction of activin expression after injury suggests an important role of activin in wound repair. *Dev Biol*, 173, 490-8 (1996)

110. Seishima, M., M. Nojiri, C. Esaki, K. Yoneda, Y. Eto & Y. Kitajima: Activin A induces terminal differentiation of cultured human keratinocytes. *J Invest Dermatol*, 112, 432-6 (1999)

111. Munz, B., H. Smola, F. Engelhardt, K. Bleuel, M. Brauchle, I. Lein, L. W. Evans, D. Huylebroeck, R. Balling & S. Werner: Overexpression of activin A in the skin of transgenic mice reveals new activities of activin in epidermal morphogenesis, dermal fibrosis and wound repair. *Embo J*, 18, 5205-15 (1999)

112. Bamberger, C., A. Scharer, M. Antsiferova, B. Tychsen, S. Pankow, M. Muller, T. Rulicke, R. Paus & S. Werner: Activin controls skin morphogenesis and wound repair predominantly via stromal cells and in a concentration-dependent manner via keratinocytes. *Am J Pathol*, 167, 733-47 (2005)

113. Wankell, M., B. Munz, G. Hubner, W. Hans, E. Wolf, A. Goppelt & S. Werner: Impaired wound healing in transgenic mice overexpressing the activin antagonist follistatin in the epidermis. *Embo J*, 20, 5361-72 (2001)

114. Rotzer, D., M. Krampert, S. Sulyok, S. Braun, H. J. Stark, P. Boukamp & S. Werner: Id proteins: novel targets of activin action, which regulate epidermal homeostasis. *Oncogene*, 25, 2070-81 (2006)

115. Botchkarev, V. A. & A. A. Sharov: BMP signaling in the control of skin development and hair follicle growth. *Differentiation*, 72, 512-26 (2004)

116. D'Souza, S. J., A. Pajak, K. Balazsi & L. Dagnino: Ca2+ and BMP-6 signaling regulate E2F during epidermal keratinocyte differentiation. *J Biol Chem*, 276, 23531-8 (2001)

117. McDonnell, M. A., B. K. Law, R. Serra & H. L. Moses: Antagonistic effects of TGFbeta1 and BMP-6 on skin keratinocyte differentiation. *Exp Cell Res*, 263, 265-73 (2001)

118. Kaiser, S., P. Schirmacher, A. Philipp, M. Protschka, I. Moll, K. Nicol & M. Blessing: Induction of bone morphogenetic protein-6 in skin wounds. Delayed reepitheliazation and scar formation in BMP-6 overexpressing transgenic mice. *J Invest Dermatol*, 111, 1145-52 (1998)

119. Blessing, M., P. Schirmacher & S. Kaiser: Overexpression of bone morphogenetic protein-6 (BMP-6) in the epidermis of transgenic mice: inhibition or stimulation of proliferation depending on the pattern of transgene expression and formation of psoriatic lesions. *J Cell Biol*, 135, 227-39 (1996)

120. Mann, A., K. Breuhahn, P. Schirmacher & M. Blessing: Keratinocyte-derived granulocyte-macrophage colony stimulating factor accelerates wound healing: Stimulation of keratinocyte proliferation, granulation tissue formation, and vascularization. *J Invest Dermatol*, 117, 1382-90 (2001)

121. Gallucci, R. M., P. P. Simeonova, J. M. Matheson, C. Kommineni, J. L. Guriel, T. Sugawara & M. I. Luster:

Impaired cutaneous wound healing in interleukin-6deficient and immunosuppressed mice. *Faseb J*, 14, 2525-31 (2000)

122. Robertson, J. G., K. J. Pickering & D. A. Belford: Insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I) and IGF-Binding proteins in rat wound fluid. *Endocrinology*, 137, 2774-81 (1996)

123. Robertson, J. G., D. A. Belford & F. J. Ballard: Clearance of IGFs and insulin from wounds: effect of IGFbinding protein interactions. *Am J Physiol*, 276, E663-71 (1999)

124. Ando, Y. & P. J. Jensen: Epidermal growth factor and insulin-like growth factor I enhance keratinocyte migration. *J Invest Dermatol*, 100, 633-9 (1993)

125. Sheridan, D. M., R. R. Isseroff & R. Nuccitelli: Imposition of a physiologic DC electric field alters the migratory response of human keratinocytes on extracellular matrix molecules. *J Invest Dermatol*, 106, 642-6 (1996)

126. Nickoloff, B. J., R. S. Mitra, B. L. Riser, V. M. Dixit & J. Varani: Modulation of keratinocyte motility. Correlation with production of extracellular matrix molecules in response to growth promoting and antiproliferative factors. *Am J Pathol*, 132, 543-51 (1988)

127. Putnins, E. E., J. D. Firth, A. Lohachitranont, V. J. Uitto & H. Larjava: Keratinocyte growth factor (KGF) promotes keratinocyte cell attachment and migration on collagen and fibronectin. *Cell Adhes Commun*, 7, 211-21 (1999)

128. Chen, J. D., J. P. Kim, K. Zhang, Y. Sarret, K. C. Wynn, R. H. Kramer & D. T. Woodley: Epidermal growth factor (EGF) promotes human keratinocyte locomotion on collagen by increasing the alpha 2 integrin subunit. *Exp Cell Res*, 209, 216-23 (1993)

129. Tamariz-Dominguez, E., F. Castro-Munozledo & W. Kuri-Harcuch: Growth factors and extracellular matrix proteins during wound healing promoted with frozen cultured sheets of human epidermal keratinocytes. *Cell Tissue Res*, 307, 79-89 (2002)

130. Sutherland, J., M. Denyer & S. Britland: Motogenic substrata and chemokinetic growth factors for human skin cells. *J Anat*, 207, 67-78 (2005)

131. el-Ghalbzouri, A., S. Gibbs, E. Lamme, C. A. Van Blitterswijk & M. Ponec: Effect of fibroblasts on epidermal regeneration. *Br J Dermatol*, 147, 230-43 (2002)

132. Li, W., G. Henry, J. Fan, B. Bandyopadhyay, K. Pang, W. Garner, M. Chen & D. T. Woodley: Signals that initiate, augment, and provide directionality for human keratinocyte motility. *J Invest Dermatol*, 123, 622-33 (2004)

133. Clark, R. A., J. M. Lanigan, P. DellaPelle, E. Manseau, H. F. Dvorak & R. B. Colvin: Fibronectin and fibrin provide a provisional matrix for epidermal cell migration during wound reepithelialization. *J Invest Dermatol*, 79, 264-9 (1982)

134. Kirfel, G. & V. Herzog: Migration of epidermal keratinocytes: mechanisms, regulation, and biological significance. *Protoplasma*, 223, 67-78 (2004)

135. Rumalla, V. K. & G. L. Borah: Cytokines, growth factors, and plastic surgery. *Plast Reconstr Surg*, 108, 719-33 (2001)

136. Sauder, D. N., P. L. Kilian, J. A. McLane, T. W. Quick, H. Jakubovic, S. C. Davis, W. H. Eaglstein & P. M.

Mertz: Interleukin-1 enhances epidermal wound healing. *Lymphokine Res*, 9, 465-73 (1990)

137. Goretsky, M. J., M. D. Harriger, A. P. Supp, D. G. Greenhalgh & S. T. Boyce: Expression of interleukinlalpha, interleukin-6, and basic fibroblast growth factor by cultured skin substitutes before and after grafting to fullthickness wounds in athymic mice. *J Trauma*, 40, 894-899; discussion 899-900 (1996)

138. Finnerty, C. C., D. N. Herndon, R. Przkora, C. T. Pereira, H. M. Oliveira, D. M. Queiroz, A. M. Rocha & M. G. Jeschke: Cytokine expression profile over time in severely burned pediatric patients. *Shock*, 26, 13-9 (2006)

139. Freedberg, I. M., M. Tomic-Canic, M. Komine & M. Blumenberg: Keratins and the keratinocyte activation cycle. *J Invest Dermatol*, 116, 633-40 (2001)

140. Gyulai, R., J. Hunyadi, A. Kenderessy-Szabo, L. Kemeny & A. Dobozy: Chemotaxis of freshly separated and cultured human keratinocytes. *Clin Exp Dermatol*, 19, 309-11 (1994)

141. Chen, J. D., J. C. Lapiere, D. N. Sauder, C. Peavey & D. T. Woodley: Interleukin-1 alpha stimulates keratinocyte migration through an epidermal growth factor/transforming growth factor-alpha-independent pathway. *J Invest Dermatol*, 104, 729-33 (1995)

142. Tang, A. & B. A. Gilchrest: Regulation of keratinocyte growth factor gene expression in human skin fibroblasts. *J Dermatol Sci*, 11, 41-50 (1996)

143. Maas-Szabowski, N., H. J. Stark & N. E. Fusenig: Keratinocyte growth regulation in defined organotypic cultures through IL-1-induced keratinocyte growth factor expression in resting fibroblasts. *J Invest Dermatol*, 114, 1075-84 (2000)

144. Maas-Szabowski, N., A. Shimotoyodome & N. E. Fusenig: Keratinocyte growth regulation in fibroblast cocultures via a double paracrine mechanism. *J Cell Sci*, 112 (Pt 12), 1843-53 (1999)

145. Chedid, M., J. S. Rubin, K. G. Csaky & S. A. Aaronson: Regulation of keratinocyte growth factor gene expression by interleukin 1. *J Biol Chem*, 269, 10753-7 (1994)

146. Brauchle, M., K. Angermeyer, G. Hubner & S. Werner: Large induction of keratinocyte growth factor expression by serum growth factors and proinflammatory cytokines in cultured fibroblasts. *Oncogene*, 9, 3199-204 (1994)

147. Nowinski, D., A. S. Lysheden, H. Gardner, K. Rubin, B. Gerdin & M. Ivarsson: Analysis of gene expression in fibroblasts in response to keratinocytederived factors in vitro: potential implications for the wound healing process. *J Invest Dermatol*, 122, 216-21 (2004)

148. Feiken, E., J. Romer, J. Eriksen & L. R. Lund: Neutrophils express tumor necrosis factor-alpha during mouse skin wound healing. *J Invest Dermatol*, 105, 120-3 (1995)

149. Hubner, G., M. Brauchle, H. Smola, M. Madlener, R. Fassler & S. Werner: Differential regulation of proinflammatory cytokines during wound healing in normal and glucocorticoid-treated mice. *Cytokine*, 8, 548-56 (1996)

150. Grellner, W., T. Georg & J. Wilske: Quantitative analysis of proinflammatory cytokines (IL-1beta, IL-6,

TNF-alpha) in human skin wounds. Forensic Sci Int, 113, 251-64 (2000)

151. Kock, A., T. Schwarz, R. Kirnbauer, A. Urbanski, P. Perry, J. C. Ansel & T. A. Luger: Human keratinocytes are a source for tumor necrosis factor alpha: evidence for synthesis and release upon stimulation with endotoxin or ultraviolet light. *J Exp Med*, 172, 1609-14 (1990)

152. Kolde, G., K. Schulze-Osthoff, H. Meyer & J. Knop: Immunohistological and immunoelectron microscopic identification of TNF alpha in normal human and murine epidermis. *Arch Dermatol Res*, 284, 154-8 (1992)

153. Nickoloff, B. J., G. D. Karabin, J. N. Barker, C. E. Griffiths, V. Sarma, R. S. Mitra, J. T. Elder, S. L. Kunkel & V. M. Dixit: Cellular localization of interleukin-8 and its inducer, tumor necrosis factor-alpha in psoriasis. *Am J Pathol*, 138, 129-40 (1991)

154. Mori, R., T. Kondo, T. Ohshima, Y. Ishida & N. Mukaida: Accelerated wound healing in tumor necrosis factor receptor p55-deficient mice with reduced leukocyte infiltration. *Faseb J*, 16, 963-74 (2002)

155. Kristensen, M., C. Q. Chu, D. J. Eedy, M. Feldmann, F. M. Brennan & S. M. Breathnach: Localization of tumour necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-alpha) and its receptors in normal and psoriatic skin: epidermal cells express the 55-kD but not the 75-kD TNF receptor. *Clin Exp Immunol*, 94, 354-62 (1993)

156. Di Vita, G., R. Patti, P. D'Agostino, G. Caruso, M. Arcara, S. Buscemi, S. Bonventre, V. Ferlazzo, F. Arcoleo & E. Cillari: Cytokines and growth factors in wound drainage fluid from patients undergoing incisional hernia repair. *Wound Repair Regen*, 14, 259-64 (2006)

157. Sato, M., D. Sawamura, S. Ina, T. Yaguchi, K. Hanada & I. Hashimoto: In vivo introduction of the interleukin 6 gene into human keratinocytes: induction of epidermal proliferation by the fully spliced form of interleukin 6, but not by the alternatively spliced form. *Arch Dermatol Res*, 291, 400-4 (1999)

158. Sawamura, D., X. Meng, S. Ina, M. Sato, K. Tamai, K. Hanada & I. Hashimoto: Induction of keratinocyte proliferation and lymphocytic infiltration by in vivo introduction of the IL-6 gene into keratinocytes and possibility of keratinocyte gene therapy for inflammatory skin diseases using IL-6 mutant genes. *J Immunol*, 161, 5633-9 (1998)

159. Gallucci, R. M., D. K. Sloan, J. M. Heck, A. R. Murray & S. J. O'Dell: Interleukin 6 indirectly induces keratinocyte migration. *J Invest Dermatol*, 122, 764-72 (2004)

160. Sano, S., S. Itami, K. Takeda, M. Tarutani, Y. Yamaguchi, H. Miura, K. Yoshikawa, S. Akira & J. Takeda: Keratinocyte-specific ablation of Stat3 exhibits impaired skin remodeling, but does not affect skin morphogenesis. *Embo J*, 18, 4657-68 (1999)

161. Boniface, K., F. X. Bernard, M. Garcia, A. L. Gurney, J. C. Lecron & F. Morel: IL-22 inhibits epidermal differentiation and induces proinflammatory gene expression and migration of human keratinocytes. *J Immunol*, 174, 3695-702 (2005)

162. Wolk, K., E. Witte, E. Wallace, W. D. Docke, S. Kunz, K. Asadullah, H. D. Volk, W. Sterry & R. Sabat: IL-22 regulates the expression of genes responsible for antimicrobial defense, cellular differentiation, and mobility

in keratinocytes: a potential role in psoriasis. *Eur J Immunol*, 36, 1309-23 (2006)

163. Devalaraja, R. M., L. B. Nanney, J. Du, Q. Qian, Y. Yu, M. N. Devalaraja & A. Richmond: Delayed wound healing in CXCR2 knockout mice. *J Invest Dermatol*, 115, 234-44 (2000)

164. Kaesler, S., P. Bugnon, J. L. Gao, P. M. Murphy, A. Goppelt & S. Werner: The chemokine receptor CCR1 is strongly up-regulated after skin injury but dispensable for wound healing. *Wound Repair Regen*, 12, 193-204 (2004)

165. Sugerman, P. B., S. B. Faber, L. M. Willis, A. Petrovic, G. F. Murphy, J. Pappo, D. Silberstein & M. R. van den Brink: Kinetics of gene expression in murine cutaneous graft-versus-host disease. *Am J Pathol*, 164, 2189-202 (2004)

166. Nanney, L. B., S. G. Mueller, R. Bueno, S. C. Peiper & A. Richmond: Distributions of melanoma growth stimulatory activity of growth-regulated gene and the interleukin-8 receptor B in human wound repair. *Am J Pathol*, 147, 1248-60 (1995)

167. Engelhardt, E., A. Toksoy, M. Goebeler, S. Debus, E. B. Brocker & R. Gillitzer: Chemokines IL-8, GROalpha, MCP-1, IP-10, and Mig are sequentially and differentially expressed during phase-specific infiltration of leukocyte subsets in human wound healing. *Am J Pathol*, 153, 1849-60 (1998)

168. Jackman, S. H., M. B. Yoak, S. Keerthy & B. L. Beaver: Differential expression of chemokines in a mouse model of wound healing. *Ann Clin Lab Sci*, 30, 201-7 (2000)

169. Gibran, N. S., M. Ferguson, D. M. Heimbach & F. F. Isik: Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 mRNA expression in the human burn wound. *J Surg Res*, 70, 1-6 (1997)

170. Low, Q. E., I. A. Drugea, L. A. Duffner, D. G. Quinn, D. N. Cook, B. J. Rollins, E. J. Kovacs & L. A. DiPietro: Wound healing in MIP-1alpha (-/-) and MCP-1 (-/-) mice. *Am J Pathol*, 159, 457-63 (2001)

171. Wetzler, C., H. Kampfer, B. Stallmeyer, J. Pfeilschifter & S. Frank: Large and sustained induction of chemokines during impaired wound healing in the genetically diabetic mouse: prolonged persistence of neutrophils and macrophages during the late phase of repair. *J Invest Dermatol*, 115, 245-53 (2000)

172. Kaesler, S., J. Regenbogen, S. Durka, A. Goppelt & S. Werner: The healing skin wound: a novel site of action of the chemokine C10. *Cytokine*, 17, 157-63 (2002)

173. Satish, L., D. Yager & A. Wells: Glu-Leu-Argnegative CXC chemokine interferon gamma inducible protein-9 as a mediator of epidermal-dermal communication during wound repair. *J Invest Dermatol*, 120, 1110-7 (2003)

174. Luster, A. D. & J. V. Ravetch: Biochemical characterization of a gamma interferon-inducible cytokine (IP-10). *J Exp Med*, 166, 1084-97 (1987)

175. Boorsma, D. M., J. Flier, S. Sampat, C. Ottevanger, P. de Haan, L. Hooft, R. Willemze, C. P. Tensen & T. J. Stoof: Chemokine IP-10 expression in cultured human keratinocytes. *Arch Dermatol Res*, 290, 335-41 (1998)

176. Luster, A. D., R. D. Cardiff, J. A. MacLean, K. Crowe & R. D. Granstein: Delayed wound healing and disorganized neovascularization in transgenic mice

expressing the IP-10 chemokine. Proc Assoc Am Physicians, 110, 183-96 (1998)

177. Shiraha, H., A. Glading, K. Gupta & A. Wells: IP-10 inhibits epidermal growth factor-induced motility by decreasing epidermal growth factor receptor-mediated calpain activity. *J Cell Biol*, 146, 243-54 (1999)

178. Tensen, C. P., J. Flier, E. M. Van Der Raaij-Helmer, S. Sampat-Sardjoepersad, R. C. Van Der Schors, R. Leurs, R. J. Scheper, D. M. Boorsma & R. Willemze: Human IP-9: A keratinocyte-derived high affinity CXC-chemokine ligand for the IP-10/Mig receptor (CXCR3). *J Invest Dermatol*, 112, 716-22 (1999)

179. Satish, L., H. C. Blair, A. Glading & A. Wells: Interferon-inducible protein 9 (CXCL11)-induced cell motility in keratinocytes requires calcium flux-dependent activation of mu-calpain. *Mol Cell Biol*, 25, 1922-41 (2005) 180. Michel, G., L. Kemeny, R. U. Peter, A. Beetz, C. Ried, P. Arenberger & T. Ruzicka: Interleukin-8 receptormediated chemotaxis of normal human epidermal cells. *FEBS Lett*, 305, 241-3 (1992)

181. Tuschil, A., C. Lam, A. Haslberger & I. Lindley: Interleukin-8 stimulates calcium transients and promotes epidermal cell proliferation. *J Invest Dermatol*, 99, 294-8 (1992)

182. Rennekampff, H. O., J. F. Hansbrough, V. Kiessig, C. Dore, M. Sticherling & J. M. Schroder: Bioactive interleukin-8 is expressed in wounds and enhances wound healing. *J Surg Res*, 93, 41-54 (2000)

183. Iocono, J. A., K. R. Colleran, D. G. Remick, B. W. Gillespie, H. P. Ehrlich & W. L. Garner: Interleukin-8 levels and activity in delayed-healing human thermal wounds. *Wound Repair Regen*, 8, 216-25 (2000)

184. Sugaya, M., K. Nakamura, H. Mitsui, T. Takekoshi, H. Saeki & K. Tamaki: Human keratinocytes express fractalkine/CX3CL1. *J Dermatol Sci*, 31, 179-87 (2003)

185. Ziboh, V. A., C. C. Miller & Y. Cho: Significance of lipoxygenase-derived monohydroxy fatty acids in cutaneous biology. *Prostaglandins Other Lipid Mediat*, 63, 3-13. (2000)

186. Leong, J., M. Hughes-Fulford, N. Rakhlin, A. Habib, J. Maclouf & M. E. Goldyne: Cyclooxygenases in human and mouse skin and cultured human keratinocytes: association of COX-2 expression with human keratinocyte differentiation. *Exp Cell Res*, 224, 79-87 (1996)

187. Breton, J., D. Woolf, P. Young & M. Chabot-Fletcher: Human keratinocytes lack the components to produce leukotriene B4. *J Invest Dermatol*, 106, 162-7. (1996)

188. Iversen, L., P. Kristensen, J. B. Nissen, W. C. Merrick & K. Kragballe: Purification and characterization of leukotriene A4 hydrolase from human epidermis. *FEBS Lett*, 358, 316-22. (1995)

189. Iversen, L., K. Fogh, V. A. Ziboh, P. Kristensen, A. Schmedes & K. Kragballe: Leukotriene B4 formation during human neutrophil keratinocyte interactions: evidence for transformation of leukotriene A4 by putative keratinocyte leukotriene A4 hydrolase. *J Invest Dermatol*, 100, 293-8. (1993)

190. Iversen, L., P. Kristensen, B. Gron, V. A. Ziboh & K. Kragballe: Human epidermis transforms exogenous leukotriene A4 into peptide leukotrienes: possible role in

transcellular metabolism. Arch Dermatol Res, 286, 261-6. (1994)

191. Iversen, L., K. Kragballe & V. A. Ziboh: Significance of leukotriene-A4 hydrolase in the pathogenesis of psoriasis. *Skin Pharmacol*, 10, 169-77 (1997)

192. Simpson, D. M. & R. Ross: The neutrophilic leukocyte in wound repair a study with antineutrophil serum. *J Clin Invest*, 51, 2009-23. (1972)

193. Boeglin, W. E., R. B. Kim & A. R. Brash: A 12Rlipoxygenase in human skin: mechanistic evidence, molecular cloning, and expression. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 95, 6744-9. (1998)

194. Brash, A. R.: Lipoxygenases: occurrence, functions, catalysis, and acquisition of substrate. *J Biol Chem*, 274, 23679-82. (1999)

195. Roberts, L. A., H. L. Glenn, R. A. Whitfield & B. S. Jacobson: Regulation of cell-substrate adhesion by the lipoxygenase and cyclooxygenase branches of arachidonic acid metabolism. *Adv Exp Med Biol*, 507, 525-9. (2002)

196. Glenn, H. L. & B. S. Jacobson: Arachidonic acid signaling to the cytoskeleton: the role of cyclooxygenase and cyclic AMP-dependent protein kinase in actin bundling. *Cell Motil Cytoskeleton*, 53, 239-50. (2002)

197. Stockton, R. A. & B. S. Jacobson: Modulation of cellsubstrate adhesion by arachidonic acid: lipoxygenase regulates cell spreading and ERK1/2-inducible cyclooxygenase regulates cell migration in NIH-3T3 fibroblasts. *Mol Biol Cell*, 12, 1937-56. (2001)

198. Hardy, M. M., E. A. Blomme, A. Lisowski, K. S. Chinn, A. Jones, J. M. Harmon, A. Opsahl, R. L. Ornberg & C. S. Tripp: Selective cyclooxygenase-2 inhibition does not alter keratinocyte wound responses in the mouse epidermis after abrasion. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 304, 959-67. (2003)

199. Muller-Decker, K., W. Hirschner, F. Marks & G. Furstenberger: The effects of cyclooxygenase isozyme inhibition on incisional wound healing in mouse skin. *J Invest Dermatol*, 119, 1189-95. (2002)

200. Blomme, E. A., K. S. Chinn, M. M. Hardy, J. J. Casler, S. H. Kim, A. C. Opsahl, W. A. Hall, D. Trajkovic, K. N. Khan & C. S. Tripp: Selective cyclooxygenase-2 inhibition does not affect the healing of cutaneous full-thickness incisional wounds in SKH-1 mice. *Br J Dermatol*, 148, 211-23. (2003)

201. Scholz, K., G. Furstenberger, K. Muller-Decker & F. Marks: Differential expression of prostaglandin-H synthase isoenzymes in normal and activated keratinocytes in vivo and in vitro. *Biochem J*, 309, 263-9. (1995)

202. Laulederkind, S. J., S. Thompson-Jaeger, S. Goorha, Q. Chen, A. Fu, J. Y. Rho, L. R. Ballou & R. Raghow: Both constitutive and inducible prostaglandin H synthase affect dermal wound healing in mice. *Lab Invest*, 82, 919-27. (2002)

203. Gron, B., L. Iversen, V. Ziboh & K. Kragballe: Distribution of monohydroxy fatty acids in specific human epidermal phospholipids. *Exp Dermatol*, 2, 38-44. (1993)

204. Hussain, H., L. P. Shornick, V. R. Shannon, J. D. Wilson, C. D. Funk, A. P. Pentland & M. J. Holtzman: Epidermis contains platelet-type 12-lipoxygenase that is overexpressed in germinal layer keratinocytes in psoriasis. *Am J Physiol*, 266, C243-53. (1994)

205. Takahashi, Y., G. R. Reddy, N. Ueda, S. Yamamoto & S. Arase: Arachidonate 12-lipoxygenase of platelet-type in human epidermal cells. *J Biol Chem*, 268, 16443-8. (1993)

206. Heidt, M., G. Furstenberger, S. Vogel, F. Marks & P. Krieg: Diversity of mouse lipoxygenases: identification of a subfamily of epidermal isozymes exhibiting a differentiation-dependent mRNA expression pattern. *Lipids*, 35, 701-7. (2000)

207. Funk, C. D., D. S. Keeney, E. H. Oliw, W. E. Boeglin & A. R. Brash: Functional expression and cellular localization of a mouse epidermal lipoxygenase. *J Biol Chem*, 271, 23338-44. (1996)

208. Jobard, F., C. Lefevre, A. Karaduman, C. Blanchet-Bardon, S. Emre, J. Weissenbach, M. Ozguc, M. Lathrop, J. F. Prud'homme & J. Fischer: Lipoxygenase-3 (ALOXE3) and 12 (R)-lipoxygenase (ALOX12B) are mutated in non-bullous congenital ichthyosiform erythroderma (NCIE) linked to chromosome 17p13.1. *Hum Mol Genet*, 11, 107-13. (2002)

209. Keeney, D. S., C. Skinner, J. B. Travers, J. H. Capdevila, L. B. Nanney, L. E. King, Jr. & M. R. Waterman: Differentiating keratinocytes express a novel cytochrome P450 enzyme, CYP2B19, having arachidonate monooxygenase activity. *J Biol Chem*, 273, 32071-9. (1998)

210. Elias, P. M., B. E. Brown & V. A. Ziboh: The permeability barrier in essential fatty acid deficiency: evidence for a direct role for linoleic acid in barrier function. *J Invest Dermatol*, 74, 230-3. (1980)

211. Johnson, E. N., L. B. Nanney, J. Virmani, J. A. Lawson & C. D. Funk: Basal transepidermal water loss is increased in platelet-type 12- lipoxygenase deficient mice. *J Invest Dermatol*, 112, 861-5. (1999)

212. Ruzicka, T.: The role of the epidermal 12hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid receptor in the skin. *Eicosanoids*, 5, S63-5. (1992)

213. Suss, R., P. Arenberger, E. C. Gross & T. Ruzicka: Regulation of 12 (S)-hydroxyeicosatetraenoic acid (12 (S)-HETE) binding sites on human epidermal cells by interferongamma. *Exp Cell Res*, 191, 204-8. (1990)

214. Davidson, J. D. & T. A. Mustoe: Oxygen in wound healing: more than a nutrient. *Wound Repair Regen*, 9, 175-7 (2001)

215. Falanga, V., S. W. Qian, D. Danielpour, M. H. Katz, A. B. Roberts & M. B. Sporn: Hypoxia upregulates the synthesis of TGF-beta 1 by human dermal fibroblasts. *J Invest Dermatol*, 97, 634-7 (1991)

216. Kino-oka, M., Y. Agatahama, Y. Haga, M. Inoie & M. Taya: Long-term subculture of human keratinocytes under an anoxic condition. *J Biosci Bioeng*, 100, 119-22 (2005)

217. Horikoshi, T., A. K. Balin & D. M. Carter: Effect of oxygen on the growth of human epidermal keratinocytes. *J Invest Dermatol*, 86, 424-7 (1986)

218. Patel, V., I. V. Chivukula, S. Roy, S. Khanna, G. He, N. Ojha, A. Mehrotra, L. M. Dias, T. K. Hunt & C. K. Sen: Oxygen: from the benefits of inducing VEGF expression to managing the risk of hyperbaric stress. *Antioxid Redox Signal*, 7, 1377-87 (2005)

219. Ngo, M. A., N. Nadezda, N. Sinitsyna, Q. Qin & R. H. Rice: Oxygen-Dependent Differentiation of Human Keratinocytes. *J Invest Dermatol*, In Press, (2006)

220. O'Toole, E. A., M. P. Marinkovich, C. L. Peavey, M. R. Amieva, H. Furthmayr, T. A. Mustoe & D. T. Woodley: Hypoxia increases human keratinocyte motility on connective tissue. *J Clin Invest*, 100, 2881-91 (1997)

221. Xia, Y. P., Y. Zhao, J. W. Tyrone, A. Chen & T. A. Mustoe: Differential activation of migration by hypoxia in keratinocytes isolated from donors of increasing age: implication for chronic wounds in the elderly. *J Invest Dermatol*, 116, 50-6 (2001)

222. Ridgway, P. F., P. Ziprin, D. H. Peck & A. W. Darzi: Hypoxia increases reepithelialization via an alphavbeta6dependent pathway. *Wound Repair Regen*, 13, 158-64 (2005)

223. Pivarcsi, A., L. Kemeny & A. Dobozy: Innate immune functions of the keratinocytes. A review. *Acta Microbiol Immunol Hung*, 51, 303-10 (2004)

224. Sorensen, O. E., J. B. Cowland, K. Theilgaard-Monch, L. Liu, T. Ganz & N. Borregaard: Wound healing and expression of antimicrobial peptides/polypeptides in human keratinocytes, a consequence of common growth factors. *J Immunol*, 170, 5583-9 (2003)

225. Sorensen, O. E., D. R. Thapa, A. Rosenthal, L. Liu, A. A. Roberts & T. Ganz: Differential regulation of betadefensin expression in human skin by microbial stimuli. *J Immunol*, 174, 4870-9 (2005)

226. Sorensen, O. E., D. R. Thapa, K. M. Roupe, E. V. Valore, U. Sjobring, A. A. Roberts, A. Schmidtchen & T. Ganz: Injury-induced innate immune response in human skin mediated by transactivation of the epidermal growth factor receptor. *J Clin Invest*, 116, 1878-1885 (2006)

227. Braff, M. H., A. Di Nardo & R. L. Gallo: Keratinocytes store the antimicrobial peptide cathelicidin in lamellar bodies. *J Invest Dermatol*, 124, 394-400 (2005)

228. Murakami, M., B. Lopez-Garcia, M. Braff, R. A. Dorschner & R. L. Gallo: Postsecretory processing generates multiple cathelicidins for enhanced topical antimicrobial defense. *J Immunol*, 172, 3070-7 (2004)

229. Butmarc, J., T. Yufit, P. Carson & V. Falanga: Human beta-defensin-2 expression is increased in chronic wounds. *Wound Repair Regen*, 12, 439-43 (2004)

230. Dorschner, R. A., V. K. Pestonjamasp, S. Tamakuwala, T. Ohtake, J. Rudisill, V. Nizet, B. Agerberth, G. H. Gudmundsson & R. L. Gallo: Cutaneous injury induces the release of cathelicidin anti-microbial peptides active against group A Streptococcus. *J Invest Dermatol*, 117, 91-7 (2001)

231. Heilborn, J. D., M. F. Nilsson, G. Kratz, G. Weber, O. Sorensen, N. Borregaard & M. Stahle-Backdahl: The cathelicidin anti-microbial peptide LL-37 is involved in reepithelialization of human skin wounds and is lacking in chronic ulcer epithelium. *J Invest Dermatol*, 120, 379-89 (2003)

232. Xue, M., N. T. Le & C. J. Jackson: Targeting matrix metalloproteases to improve cutaneous wound healing. *Expert Opin Ther Targets*, 10, 143-55 (2006)

233. Kahari, V. M. & U. Saarialho-Kere: Matrix metalloproteinases in skin. *Exp Dermatol*, 6, 199-213 (1997)

234. Madlener, M., W. C. Parks & S. Werner: Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and their physiological inhibitors (TIMPs) are differentially expressed during excisional skin wound repair. *Exp Cell Res*, 242, 201-10 (1998)

235. Pilcher, B. K., M. Wang, X. J. Qin, W. C. Parks, R. M. Senior & H. G. Welgus: Role of matrix

metalloproteinases and their inhibition in cutaneous wound healing and allergic contact hypersensitivity. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*, 878, 12-24 (1999)

236. Ravanti, L. & V. M. Kahari: Matrix metalloproteinases in wound repair (review). *Int J Mol Med*, 6, 391-407 (2000)

237. Saarialho-Kere, U. K.: Patterns of matrix metalloproteinase and TIMP expression in chronic ulcers. *Arch Dermatol Res*, 290 Suppl, S47-54 (1998)

238. Vaalamo, M., M. Weckroth, P. Puolakkainen, J. Kere, P. Saarinen, J. Lauharanta & U. K. Saarialho-Kere: Patterns of matrix metalloproteinase and TIMP-1 expression in chronic and normally healing human cutaneous wounds. *Br J Dermatol*, 135, 52-9 (1996)

239. Krampert, M., W. Bloch, T. Sasaki, P. Bugnon, T. Rulicke, E. Wolf, M. Aumailley, W. C. Parks & S. Werner: Activities of the matrix metalloproteinase stromelysin-2 (MMP-10) in matrix degradation and keratinocyte organization in wounded skin. *Mol Biol Cell*, 15, 5242-54 (2004)

240. Makela, M., H. Larjava, E. Pirila, P. Maisi, T. Salo, T. Sorsa & V. J. Uitto: Matrix metalloproteinase 2 (gelatinase A) is related to migration of keratinocytes. *Exp Cell Res*, 251, 67-78 (1999)

241. Mirastschijski, U., C. J. Haaksma, J. J. Tomasek & M. S. Agren: Matrix metalloproteinase inhibitor GM 6001 attenuates keratinocyte migration, contraction and myofibroblast formation in skin wounds. *Exp Cell Res*, 299, 465-75 (2004)

242. Pilcher, B. K., J. A. Dumin, B. D. Sudbeck, S. M. Krane, H. G. Welgus & W. C. Parks: The activity of collagenase-1 is required for keratinocyte migration on a type I collagen matrix. *J Cell Biol*, 137, 1445-57 (1997)

243. Sadowski, T., S. Dietrich, F. Koschinsky, A. Ludwig, E. Proksch, B. Titz & R. Sedlacek: Matrix metalloproteinase 19 processes the laminin 5 gamma 2 chain and induces epithelial cell migration. *Cell Mol Life Sci*, 62, 870-80 (2005)

244. Xue, M., P. Thompson, I. Kelso & C. Jackson: Activated protein C stimulates proliferation, migration and wound closure, inhibits apoptosis and upregulates MMP-2 activity in cultured human keratinocytes. *Exp Cell Res*, 299, 119-27 (2004)

245. Salonurmi, T., M. Parikka, S. Kontusaari, E. Pirila, C. Munaut, T. Salo & K. Tryggvason: Overexpression of TIMP-1 under the MMP-9 promoter interferes with wound healing in transgenic mice. *Cell Tissue Res*, 315, 27-37 (2004)

246. Salo, T., M. Makela, M. Kylmaniemi, H. Autio-Harmainen & H. Larjava: Expression of matrix metalloproteinase-2 and -9 during early human wound healing. *Lab Invest*, 70, 176-82 (1994)

247. Sudbeck, B. D., B. K. Pilcher, H. G. Welgus & W. C. Parks: Induction and repression of collagenase-1 by keratinocytes is controlled by distinct components of different extracellular matrix compartments. *J Biol Chem*, 272, 22103-10 (1997)

248. Pilcher, B. K., J. Dumin, M. J. Schwartz, B. A. Mast, G. S. Schultz, W. C. Parks & H. G. Welgus: Keratinocyte collagenase-1 expression requires an epidermal growth factor receptor autocrine mechanism. *J Biol Chem*, 274, 10372-81 (1999)

249. Han, Y. P., S. Downey & W. L. Garner: Interleukinlalpha-induced proteolytic activation of metalloproteinase-9 by human skin. *Surgery*, 138, 932-9 (2005)

250. McCawley, L. J., S. Li, E. V. Wattenberg & L. G. Hudson: Sustained activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway. A mechanism underlying receptor tyrosine kinase specificity for matrix metalloproteinase-9 induction and cell migration. *J Biol Chem*, 274, 4347-53 (1999)

251. Rechardt, O., O. Elomaa, M. Vaalamo, K. Paakkonen, T. Jahkola, J. Hook-Nikanne, R. M. Hembry, L. Hakkinen, J. Kere & U. Saarialho-Kere: Stromelysin-2 is upregulated during normal wound repair and is induced by cytokines. *J Invest Dermatol*, 115, 778-87 (2000)

252. Wan, Y., A. Belt, Z. Wang, J. Voorhees & G. Fisher: Transmodulation of epidermal growth factor receptor mediates IL-1 beta-induced MMP-1 expression in cultured human keratinocytes. *Int J Mol Med*, 7, 329-34 (2001)

253. Philipp, K., F. Riedel, G. Germann, K. Hormann & M. Sauerbier: TGF-beta antisense oligonucleotides reduce mRNA expression of matrix metalloproteinases in cultured wound-healing-related cells. *Int J Mol Med*, 15, 299-303 (2005)

254. Agren, M. S.: Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) are required for re-epithelialization of cutaneous wounds. *Arch Dermatol Res*, 291, 583-90 (1999)

255. Fray, M. J., R. P. Dickinson, J. P. Huggins & N. L. Occleston: A potent, selective inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinase-3 for the topical treatment of chronic dermal ulcers. *J Med Chem*, 46, 3514-25 (2003)

256. Di Colandrea, T., L. Wang, J. Wille, J. D'Armiento & K. K. Chada: Epidermal expression of collagenase delays wound-healing in transgenic mice. *J Invest Dermatol*, 111, 1029-33 (1998)

257. Soo, C., W. W. Shaw, X. Zhang, M. T. Longaker, E. W. Howard & K. Ting: Differential expression of matrix metalloproteinases and their tissue-derived inhibitors in cutaneous wound repair. *Plast Reconstr Surg*, 105, 638-47 (2000)

258. Vaalamo, M., T. Leivo & U. Saarialho-Kere: Differential expression of tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMP-1, -2, -3, and -4) in normal and aberrant wound healing. *Hum Pathol*, 30, 795-802 (1999)

259. Grando, S. A., M. R. Pittelkow & K. U. Schallreuter: Adrenergic and cholinergic control in the biology of epidermis: physiological and clinical significance. *J Invest Dermatol*, 126, 1948-65 (2006)

260. Grando, S. A.: Biological functions of keratinocyte cholinergic receptors. *J Investig Dermatol Symp Proc*, 2, 41-8 (1997)

261. Chernyavsky, A. I., J. Arredondo, L. M. Marubio & S. A. Grando: Differential regulation of keratinocyte chemokinesis and chemotaxis through distinct nicotinic receptor subtypes. *J Cell Sci*, 117, 5665-79 (2004)

262. Kishimoto, S., M. Maruo, C. Ohse, H. Yasuno, H. Kimura, T. Nagai & T. Maeda: The regeneration of the sympathetic catecholaminergic nerve fibers in the process of burn wound healing in guinea pigs. *J Invest Dermatol*, 79, 141-6 (1982)

263. Chernyavsky, A. I., J. Arredondo, J. Wess, E. Karlsson & S. A. Grando: Novel signaling pathways mediating reciprocal control of keratinocyte migration and

wound epithelialization through M3 and M4 muscarinic receptors. *J Cell Biol*, 166, 261-72 (2004)

264. Foulds, I. S. & A. T. Barker: Human skin battery potentials and their possible role in wound healing. *Br J Dermatol*, 109, 515-22 (1983)

265. Nuccitelli, R.: A role for endogenous electric fields in wound healing. *Curr Top Dev Biol*, 58, 1-26 (2003)

266. Ojingwa, J. C. & R. R. Isseroff: Electrical stimulation of wound healing. *J Invest Dermatol*, 121, 1-12 (2003)

267. Nishimura, K. Y., R. R. Isseroff & R. Nuccitelli: Human keratinocytes migrate to the negative pole in direct current electric fields comparable to those measured in mammalian wounds. *J Cell Sci*, 109 (Pt 1), 199-207 (1996) 268. Fang, K. S., E. Ionides, G. Oster, R. Nuccitelli & R. R. Isseroff: Epidermal growth factor receptor relocalization and kinase activity are necessary for directional migration of keratinocytes in DC electric fields. *J Cell Sci*, 112 (Pt 12), 1967-78 (1999)

269. Zhao, M., B. Song, J. Pu, T. Wada, B. Reid, G. Tai, F. Wang, A. Guo, P. Walczysko, Y. Gu, T. Sasaki, A. Suzuki, J. V. Forrester, H. R. Bourne, P. N. Devreotes, C. D. McCaig & J. M. Penninger: Electrical signals control wound healing through phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase-gamma and PTEN. *Nature*, 442, 457-60 (2006)

270. Chen, J., B. B. Hoffman & R. R. Isseroff: Betaadrenergic receptor activation inhibits keratinocyte migration via a cyclic adenosine monophosphateindependent mechanism. *J Invest Dermatol*, 119, 1261-8 (2002)

271. Pullar, C. E., J. C. Grahn, W. Liu & R. R. Isseroff: Beta2-adrenergic receptor activation delays wound healing. *Faseb J*, 20, 76-86 (2006)

272. Pullar, C. E., A. Rizzo & R. R. Isseroff: beta-Adrenergic receptor antagonists accelerate skin wound healing: evidence for a catecholamine synthesis network in the epidermis. *J Biol Chem*, 281, 21225-35 (2006)

273. Pullar, C. E. & R. R. Isseroff: Cyclic AMP mediates keratinocyte directional migration in an electric field. *J Cell Sci*, 118, 2023-34 (2005)

274. Pullar, C. E., J. Chen & R. R. Isseroff: PP2A activation by beta2-adrenergic receptor agonists: novel regulatory mechanism of keratinocyte migration. *J Biol Chem*, 278, 22555-62 (2003)

Abbreviations: BMP: bone morphogenic protein, COX: cyclooxygenase EGF: epidermal growth factor, FGF: growth granulocyte fibroblast factor. GM-CSF: macrophage colony stimulating factor, HB-EGF: heparin binding epidermal growth factor, hBD: human beta defensin, hCAP: human cathelicidin antimicrobial protein, IL: interleukin, KGF: keratinocyte growth factor, LT: leukotriene, LOX: lipoxygenase, MCP: macrophage chemosttractant protein, MMP: matrix metalloproteinase, mTOR: mammalian target of rapamycin, PKC: protein kinase C, ROS: reactive oxygen species, TGF: transforming growth factor, TNF: tumor necrosis factor

Key Words: Keratinocyte, Migration, Motility, Epithelialization, Re-Epithelialization, Wound, Healing, Desmosome, Hemidesmosome, Integrin, Keratin, Epidermal Growth Factor, Fibroblast Growth Factor, Cytokine, Chemokine, Eicosanoid, Oxygen, Antimicrobial Peptide, And Matrix Metalloproteinase, Acetylcholine, Nicotinic Receptor, Muscarinic Receptor, Catecholamine, Beta Adrenergic Receptor, Catecholamines, Review

Send correspondence to: Dr. R. Rivkah Isseroff, University of California, Davis, School of Medicine, Department of Dermatology, Dermatology Research, TB 192, One Shields Ave, Davis, CA 95616, USA, Tel: 530-752-8155, Fax: 530-752-9767, E-mail: rrisseroff@ucdavis.edu

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol12.htm